
 
 
 

Mr S Hearse 
Chief Executive 
Torridge District Council 
Riverbank House 
Bideford 
Devon 
EX39 2QG 
 
DX 53606 BIDEFORD 
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700 
 

 

 

 

 
Date: 21 May 2021 

 
 

MEETING OF PLANS COMMITTEE 
 

Caddsdown Business Support Centre, Clovelly Road, Bideford 

Thursday 3 June 2021 at 9.30 am 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

From the 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold formal meetings in 
person. The Council is also required to follow Government guidance and 

ensure that all venues used are Covid secure and that all appropriate 
measures are put in place. Members of the public will be able to attend the 
meeting in person if they are registered to speak under public participation. 

Any members of the public who want to view the meeting will be able to watch 
through the Councils YouTube Channel https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

 

 

To: Councillor C Leather (Chair) 
Councillor M Brown (Vice-Chair) 
Councillors: R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, R Lock, D McGeough, P Watson 
and R Wiseman 

 

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the 
Meeting 

 

AGENDA 

  

1.   Apologies For Absence  

 To receive apologies of absence from the meeting. 
 

https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube


 

 

2.   Declaration of Interest  

 Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being considered. 
 
Elected Members of Devon County Council and Town/Parish Councils who have 
considered a planning application by virtue of their membership of that Council hold a 
personal interest and are deemed to have considered the application separately and 
the expressed views of that Council do not bind the Members concerned who 
consider the application afresh. 
 

3.   Agreement of Agenda between Parts I and II  
 

4.   Urgent Matters  

 Information to be brought forward with the permission of the Chair. 
 

5.   Public Participation  

 The Chair to advise the Committee of any prior requests to speak made by members 
of the public and to advise of the details of the Council’s public participation scheme. 
 

6.   Planning Applications  

 The information, recommendations and advice contained in the reports are correct as 
at the date of preparation which is more than ten days in advance of the Committee 
meeting.   Due to these time constraints any changes or necessary updates to the 
reports will be provided in writing or orally at the Committee meeting. 
 
 

(a)   Application No. 1/0604/2020/OUTM (Pages 5 - 38) 

 Outline application for 39 dwellings with all matters reserved except access - Land At 
Bloody Corner, Northam, Devon 
 

(b)   Applciation No. 1/0126/2021/FUL (Pages 39 - 52) 

 Demolition of existing storage building and replace with the erection of 2-bed single 
storey dwelling and retention of existing workshop (unaltered) (Amended Description) 
- Land And Buildings Diddywell Road, Appledore, Devon 
 

(c)   Application No. 1/0274/2021/OUT (Pages 53 - 64) 

 Outline application with all matters reserved for 1no. local needs dwelling - Land At 
Holemoor, Bradford, Holsworthy 
 

(d)   Application No. 1/0381/2021/LA (Pages 65 - 70) 

 Installation of a no.1 storage container - Torridge District Council, Cattle Market Car 
Park, Chanters Road 
 
 



 

 

7.   Appeal Decisions Summary  

  
 There are no Appeal Decisions for the period 12 May – 21 May 2021. 
 

8.   Costs on Appeals  

 There are no Costs on Appeals. 
 

9.   Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications  

 There are no AGMB decisions for the period 12 May – 21 May 2021. 

 

10.   Planning Decisions (Pages 71 - 73) 

 List of Delegated Planning Decisions, Consultee Abbreviations and Application Types 
enclosed for the period 12 May 2021 to 21 May 2021. 
 
 

11.   Exclusion of Public  

 The Chair to move:- 
 
That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information by virtue of Part 1 Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

12.   Part II - Closed Session  

 There are no Part II items. 
 

The background papers are considered to comprise the following documents: 
 

- The individual planning application file (reference number quoted in each case) 
- North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (Adopted October 2018) 
- Current Government guidance contained in Circulars, the National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Policy for Traveller Sites and Ministerial Statements 
- Any other documents specifically referred to in the report. 

 
All background papers referred to are available for examination during normal office hours. 

 

NOTE TO MEMBERS 
 
All letters of representations are readily available for inspection on the files or through the 
website and public access.  If any Member requires assistance in using this facility, please 
contact the Development Enabling Manager directly. 
 
Members of the Committee only will receive hard copies of representations received. 

 

 
 



 

 

Meeting Organiser: Sandra Cawsey 
 

 
For those wishing to speak at Plans Committee please contact: 
 
Planning Support  -         Tel:   01237 428778 or 428711 
                                        Email:   speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk 
                                        Website:  www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning 

 

 
 

mailto:speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning


 
Committee Report – 3 June 2021 

 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0604/2020/OUTM 

Registration date: 17 July 2020 

Expiry date:  16 October 2020 

Applicant:  LVA Northam LLP  

Agent:  Greenslade Taylor Hunt 

Case Officer:  James Jackson 

Site Address:  Land At Bloody Corner,  
Northam,  
Devon, 

Proposal:  Outline application for 39 dwellings with all 
matters reserved except access 

Recommendation: Grant, subject to S106 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6a



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
Cllr Manley has called the application to Plans Committee if the Officer is minded to recommend 
approval, for the following reasons: 
 
It is contrary to Policies ST21, ST09, NOR and ST14 
 
Concerns with regard to:- dangerous access; traffic impact; adverse effect on footpaths over-
development of the site; adverse impact on the countryside; adverse impact on the historical 
battlefield site; adverse impact on the wildlife corridor and lack of infrastructure. 
 

Relevant History: 

 
None.     
 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description 
 
The application relates to two parcels of land adjoining the eastern edge of the developed area of 
Northam.  The northernmost parcel is a relatively flat area that is currently in use as an agricultural 
smallholding which is accessed via an existing vehicular access at its south western corner.  The 
boundaries of the land are demarked by mature hedgerows.  The site is bounded on its northern and 
eastern sides by open agricultural land, by an existing public right of way on its southern edge and by 
the A386 public highway on its western side. 
 
The southernmost parcel of land is an open agricultural field, which slopes upwards from its northern 
boundary towards existing residential development that is located on Windmill Lane and forms the 
southern site boundary.  Existing residential development and a public right of way forms the western 
site boundary, with a hedgerow and trees at the eastern boundary.   
 
To the east, the land falls away towards the Torridge Estuary.  Appledore is located approximately 
1km to the north east.  The Northam developed area is located to the west. 
 
Proposed Development 
 
The application proposes the erection of 39 dwellings, with all matters reserved except access.   
 
A single vehicular access is proposed at the site’s western boundary, onto Greenacre Close. 
 
An illustrative site layout plan has been submitted as part of the application, which shows 39 dwellings 
arranged across the southern parcel of land that comprise the site.  The northern part of the site is 
shown accommodating a SuDS attenuation pond and play area.  It is to be noted that layout is a 
matter reserved for future consideration, with the result that the plan is illustrative only. 
 
It is proposed that the existing trees and hedgerows would be retained and enhanced as part of the 
development, noting that landscaping is a matter reserved for future consideration. 
 
Foul water would be drained to the mains sewer. 
 
The proposal includes a range of financial contributions in relation to various infrastructure items. 
 

Consultee representations: 

 

Page 6



Northam Parish/Town Council:  
First Response 
1/0604/2020/OUTM 
It was resolved to recommend that this application be refused on the following grounds: 
It is contrary to Policies ST21, ST09, NOR and ST14 
Members expressed concerns with regard to:- 
Dangerous access; traffic impact; adverse effect on footpaths; 
over-development of the site; adverse impact on the countryside; adverse impact on the historical 
battlefield site;  
adverse impact on the wildlife corridor and lack of infrastructure.  
 
Second Response 
1/0604/2020/OUTM 
It was resolved to recommend to Torridge District Council that this application be refused on the same 
grounds as before: 
 
It is contrary to Policies ST21, ST09, NOR and ST14 
Members expressed concerns with regard to: - 
dangerous access; traffic impact; adverse effect on footpaths; 
over-development of the site; adverse impact on the countryside; adverse impact on the historical 
battlefield site; adverse impact on the wildlife corridor and lack of infrastructure.  
Also it was considered that by not making the identified site of the nationally important battlefield of 
Northam 1069 the objective of proposed archaeology, the application would be in breach of Local  
Plan ST15 section b) which refers to conservation of historic archaeological features. Furthermore, it 
is in breach of DM07 on minimising harm to a heritage asset. 
 
Conservation Officer:  
Outline application for 39 dwellings with all matters reserved except access, Land At Bloody 
Corner,Northam  
 
The consideration for this proposal is similar to previous proposals to develop in this green space 
between Northam and Appledore. There are heritage assets nearby and these are set out in the 
Heritage Assessment which accompanies the application.  
 
The closest asset is the Memorial stone at Bloody Corner. The memorial at Bloody Corner is set 
adjacent the site and will experience a change in the setting as the views to the river and down Hyde 
Lane will be changed by the development. This does detract from the interpretation of the memorial 
and its rural setting however the evaluation in the heritage assessment is accepted and the impact of 
the proposal will result in less than substantial harm to the Bloody Corner Stone and this harm has to 
be weighed against the public benefit of the scheme under guidance set out in paragraph 196 of the 
NPPF.  
 
The weblink to the stone is attached. https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1104722  
 
The conclusion from the Heritage assessment (July 2020) is reproduced for reference.  
 
The assessment has concluded the proposed development has the potential to introduce a negative 
element to the setting of the Grade II Listed Stone Tablet at Bloody Corner that will translate to less 
than substantial harm (lower end), requiring the level of harm to be weighed against the potential 
public benefit. It is considered that this asset possesses very low illustrative and associative values. 
The consideration in the report is shown: 
 

Page 7

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1104722


 
 
In terms of cultural interest a page from Murial Goaman’s book Old Bideford and District(1968) 
relating to this stone tablet is included for interest. 
 

 
 
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management:  
First Response 
Recommendation: 
Although we have no in-principle objection to the above planning application at this stage, the 
applicant must submit additional information, as outlined below, in order to demonstrate that all 
aspects of the proposed surface water drainage management system have been considered. 
 
Observations: The applicant has edited the values within the calculations of the greenfield runoff rates 
(calculated using the Greenfield Runoff Rate Estimation Tool by UKSUDS). The applicant should 
revise the greenfield runoff rates, using the values from the FEH Web Service.  
 

Page 8



The applicant has used the full site area for the calculation of the long-term storage volume. However, 
as the northern site will not be developed, the applicant should only calculate the long-term storage 
volume for the southern site.  
 
The applicant should also clarify how the SPR value has been derived. The applicant has noted within 
section 4.16 of the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (Ref. RMA-RC1812; Rev. 2; dated 
21st December 2018) that further SuDS features will be explored at the next stage of planning (should 
planning permission be granted). However, the applicant should discuss these features at this stage 
as these features will require space which could affect the layout of the development (as well as the 
number of dwellings).  
 
As noted within section 4.10 of the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (Ref. RMA-
RC1812; Rev. 2; dated 21st December 2018), SA3 appeared to drain away but only 1 test was 
completed. The applicant may wish to explore the viability of infiltration further to reduce the volume of 
water being discharged to South West Water's surface water sewer. 
 
Although infiltration does not appear to be wholly viable across this site, the applicant could still 
'underdrain' permeable paving into the main system. The permeable paving may need to be lined to 
prevent any ingress of groundwater. The permeable paving would need to be modelled as 
impermeable as the paving would drain into the main system.  
 
The applicant should provide further details for the maintenance of the surface water drainage 
system, including who shall be responsible for maintaining which features. Will the entire surface 
water drainage system be offered to South West Water for adoption?  
 
The applicant will need to consider the exceedance routes before fixing the site layout. The current 
indicative layout is quite dense. However, the density could be reduced to provide more space for 
exceedance flows to be safely and suitably routed. 
 
Second Response 
Recommendation:  
 
At this stage, we have no in-principle objections to the above planning application, from a surface 
water drainage perspective, assuming that the following pre-commencement planning conditions are 
imposed on any approved permission:  
 
Prior to or as part of the Reserved Matters, the following information shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:  
 
(a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk Assessment  
(b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt run-off from the site during 
construction of the development hereby permitted.  
(c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water drainage system.  
(d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site.  
(e) Evidence that there is agreement in principle from South West Water or alternative appropriate 
organisation for adoption  
 
No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been approved and implemented 
in accordance with the details under (a) - (e) above. 
 
Reason: The above conditions are required to ensure the proposed surface water drainage system 
will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, adjacent land or 
downstream in line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national policies, including NPPF and 
PPG. The conditions should be pre-commencement since it is essential that the proposed surface 
water drainage system is shown to be feasible before works begin to avoid redesign / unnecessary 
delays during construction when site layout is fixed.  
 
Observations:  

Page 9



Following my colleague's previous consultation response (FRM/TO/0604/2020) dated 2 September 
2020, the applicant has submitted additional information in relation to the surface water drainage 
aspects of the above planning application for which I am grateful.  
 

• Flood Risk Assessment Addendum, Reference: RMA/LC1812b_1, dated 24 September 2020 
 
A detailed exceedance flow plan at the Reserved Matters (detailed design) stage will be required to 
provide confidence that they can be safely and suitably routed particularly at the northern end of the 
southern parcel. The existing hedge on the the southern boundary of the northern parcel could 
prevent flows from being directed into the parcel.  
 
We are grateful to see consideration of additional SuDS features. In accordance with the SuDS 
Management Train a variety of above-ground source control components should be provided across 
the whole site to avoid managing all of the surface water from a proposed development at one 
concentrated point (e.g. a single attenuation pond). We would therefore, expect to see these 
incorporated at the Reserved Matters stage.  
 
The applicant has recommended further investigation to see if infiltration is viable in the south west 
corner of the proposed development. Any soakaway test results will need to be in accordance with 
BRE 365 and groundwater monitoring results in line with our DCC groundwater monitoring policy. 
 
DCC Rights Of Way:  
Devon County Council (DCC) have asked that I comment on the above planning application. Please 
be aware that the application could affect footpaths Northam 7 and 10 which border the site to the 
north and east. 
 
Northam 7 runs east west, from Churchill Way along the lane to the Estuary terminating at Boathyde 
and runs between the proposed housing estate and the land within the application identified as 
locating the play area and attenuation pond. Footpath 10 runs from fp 7 north south on the proposed 
development site where the land abuts the property on Greenacre Close, the footpath exits onto 
Greenacre Close, just south of the sub-station. The plans indicate that the footpath would be 
dissected by the access road. It would appear that both footpaths could be directly affected by the 
proposed development. 
 
Devon County Council is responsible for ensuring that Public Rights of Way remain safe, available 
and unobstructed in order that the public can exercise their Right to use them. However, in most 
instances DCC does not own the land the way crosses, but is vested in the surface and any furniture 
associated with that right of way. I feel that this needs to be made clear as the land crossed by the 
Right of Way and any boundary features (hedges, hedge-banks, trees and fences etc) will remain in 
the ownership of the holder of the land that is proposed for development, (or could be transferred to 
those individuals who purchase propertys which abut the footpath). I think it pertinent to remind the 
applicant that responsibility for boundary features against a Public Right of Way will remain with the 
land owner. 
 
Devon County Council feels that not enough information has been submitted which out-lines how the 
Public Right of Way will be safeguarded and how the subsequent corridor will be maintained in the 
future and thus until we have some clarification, we therefore submit a holding objection until these 
issues have been addressed. 
 
Finally, I would remind the applicant that Planning Permission does not grant the right to close, alter 
or build over a Public Right of Way in anyway, even temporarily. Therefore should the application be 
successful, the applicant must ensure that the way remains open and available to the public at all 
times, including during the period of construction activity such as with buildings materials, or spoil and 
contractors vehicles and plant etc. Should it be necessary to permanently divert the path to enable 
development to take place, this can be achieved by the Local Planning Authority through section 257 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. If a temporary diversion or closure is required during 
construction works then the applicant may apply to DCC for a temporary closure order. 
 

Page 10



Chief Education Officer:  
Devon County Council has considered the application above and would like to provide an education 
response.  
 
An assessment of education requirements directly related to the proposed development has been 
undertaken using the standard methodology set out in the County Council Education Section 106 
Policy, this policy has been used to calculate the number of primary and secondary aged pupils likely 
to be generated by the development.  
 
Regarding the above planning application, Devon County Council has identified that a development 
up to 39 family type dwellings will generate an additional 9.75 primary pupils and 5.85 secondary 
pupils. This application which would have a direct impact on St Georges Church of England VA Infant 
and Nursery School, St Margarets Junior School, Appledore School and Bideford Community College.  
 
Primary Provision:  
 
When factoring in both approved but unimplemented housing developments we have forecast that the 
local primary schools have enough capacity for 42% of pupils expected to be generated from 
development in the area. Therefore, Devon County Council will request primary contributions against 
58% of pupils expected to be generated by development in Northam. The contribution would be used 
towards additional education infrastructure to serve the address of the proposed development. The 
Local Plan identifies that new primary provision is required to serve Bideford and Northam allocations. 
 
DCC will seek a contribution towards the primary pupils expected to be generated from this 
development. The primary contribution sought would be £106,987 (based on the DfE expansion rate 
of £19,417 per pupil x 58%). This equates to a per dwelling rate of £2,743.27. The contributions will 
be used towards the expansion and/or enhancements of primary provision.  
 
DCC would also need to request a proportionate land contribution of 10sqm per family-type dwelling. 
Based upon a land value of £440,000 per hectare (£440 per dwelling), this land contribution would 
equate to £9,952 and would be used to assist in the procurement of the new school site. This is 
calculated as £440 x 39 dwellings x 58%.  
 
Early Years Provision:  
 
A contribution towards Early Years provision is requested to ensure delivery of provision for 2, 3 and 4 
year olds. The Early Years rate is £250 per dwelling, or a total of £34,250 to mitigate 39 dwellings. 
This contribution will be used to provide statutory early years places in the area. 
 
Secondary Provision:  
 
When factoring in approved but unimplemented housing developments we have forecast that the local 
secondary school has sufficient capacity for the number of pupils likely to be generated by the 
proposed development. Therefore, a contribution towards secondary education infrastructure would 
not be sought.  
 
All contributions will be subject to indexation using BCIS, it should be noted that education 
infrastructure contributions are based on March 2019 rates and any indexation applied to 
contributions requested should be applied from this date.  
 
The amount requested is based on established educational formulae (which related to the number of 
primary and secondary age children that are likely to be living in this type of accommodation). It is 
considered that this is an appropriate methodology to ensure that the contribution is fairly and 
reasonably related in scale to the development proposed which complies with CIL Regulation 122.  
 
In addition to the contribution figures quoted above, the County Council would wish to recover legal 
costs incurred as a result of the preparation and completion of the Agreement. Legal costs are not 
expected to exceed £500.00 where the agreement relates solely to the education contribution. 

Page 11



 
However, if the agreement involves other issues or if the matter becomes protracted, the legal costs 
are likely to be in excess of this sum. 
 
Historic England - Southwest Casework:  
Thank you for your letter of 12 November 2020 regarding further information on the above application 
for planning permission. On the basis of this information, we do not wish to offer any comments. We 
suggest that you seek the views of your specialist conservation and archaeological advisers, as 
relevant.  
 
It is not necessary for us to be consulted on this application again, unless there are material changes 
to the proposals. However, if you would like detailed advice from us, please contact us to explain your 
request. 
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
First Response 
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team comments are outlined below. 
 
Residential Amenity 
The application site is adjacent to a number of existing dwellings to the south and west such that 
detriment to their residential amenity may arise from construction works associated with the proposed 
development if control measures are not in place. Should planning consent be granted, the 
Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition of the following condition: 
 
Prior to the commencement of development, including any site clearance, groundworks or 
construction within each sub-phase (save such preliminary or minor works that the Local Planning 
Authority may agree in writing), a Construction Management Plan (CMP) to manage the impacts of 
construction during the life of the works, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, the CMP shall include: 
a) measures to regulate the routing of construction traffic; 
b) the times within which traffic can enter and leave the site; 
c) the importation of spoil and soil on site; 
d) the removal /disposal of materials from site, including soil and vegetation; 
e) the location and covering of stockpiles; 
f) details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site and must include wheel-washing 
facilities 
g) control of fugitive dust from demolition, earthworks and construction activities; dust suppression 
h) impact assessments and associated mitigation measures in relation to noise, vibration, dust and 
lighting. (Assessments must be carried out by suitably qualified persons and the plan should 
demonstrate the adoption and use of best practice to reduce impacts)  
i) details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility buildings 
j) specified parking arrangements for vehicles associated with the construction works and the 
provision made for access thereto; 
k) a point of contact (such as a Construction Liaison Officer/site manager) and details of how 
complaints will be addressed 
The details so approved and any subsequent amendments as shall be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority shall be complied with in full and monitored by the applicants to ensure continuing 
compliance during the construction of the development. 
 
In addition to the above, construction times (including site deliveries) should be limited to Monday to 
Friday 0700 to 1900 hours and 0800 to 1300 hours on Saturdays with no works permitted on Sundays 
and Bank Holidays. 
 
Land Quality 
The 'Phase 1 Preliminary Contamination Assessment Report' presents a detailed overview of the site 
history and land use. The Environmental Protection Team concurs with the conclusions of the report 
in that the application site is unlikely to result in significant contamination that would cause harm to 
the human health of future occupants. However, it would be prudent to ensure measures are in place 

Page 12



should any unforeseen contamination arise during development. Should planning consent be granted, 
the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition of the following condition: 
 
Should any contamination of soil or groundwater be discovered during development of the site, the 
Local Planning Authority should be contacted immediately. Site activities within that phase or sub-
phase or part thereof, should be temporarily suspended until such time as a procedure for addressing 
such contamination, within that phase or sub-phase or part thereof, is agreed upon with the Local 
Planning Authority or other regulating bodies.  
 
Second Response 
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team has no objections in principle 
but reiterates the comments of its consultation response dated 12 August recommending the 
imposition of conditions pertaining to land quality and the need for a Construction Management Plan.  
 
Strategic Enabling Officer:  
I am of the understanding that in terms of Affordable Housing and the current position in terms of its 
in-ability to demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply, consideration of North Devon and Torridge 
Local Plan Policy ST18 is relevant for this proposal at this current time. This policy requires 30% of 
the overall number of units to be provided as Affordable Housing.  
 
For a scheme of 39 dwellings, this equates to 11.7 Affordable Housing units with the required tenure 
split being 75% to be provided at a Social Rent level and 25% at an Intermediate level. In the interest 
of affordability, it is imperative the rented units are provided at a Social Rent level and not at an 
Affordable Rent level - the associated definitions being detailed in the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 
For the Intermediate provision, it is acceptable for this to be provided in the form of shared ownership, 
intermediate rent or low cost housing. Where low cost housing is proposed, the percentage discount 
must be set as follows with the discount secured in perpetuity. 
 

 
 
To best address identified need, the Affordable Housing is required in the following form:- 
 

 
 
For the off site commuted sum, TDC’s adopted method for calculating commuted sums for AH is the 
difference between the open market value of units that reflect the size and type of unit(s) which would 
address identified housing need, and the Registered Provider offer (without grant funding). In this 
case the commuted sum should be based on the provision of a 2 bed social rented unit with the 
commuted sum value calculated as follows:- 
 

Page 13



 
 
The affordable housing provision is required to be ‘pepper-potted’ throughout the development with 
clusters which allow for a maximum grouping of 6 units.  
 
It should be noted that no detail concerning the viability of the development in terms of delivering a 
policy compliant level of affordable housing has been submitted as part of this planning application. 
Therefore at this stage, whilst the applicant has detailed of level of 30% Affordable Housing within 
their Heads of Terms document, I am unable to confirm as to whether this provision in the form of 
11.7 units of Affordable Housing is a viable proposition. However, as Affordable Housing is a material 
consideration and to assist with future forecasting in terms of Affordable Housing Delivery it would be 
advantageous for the Council to have sight of any viability appraisals that may already been 
undertaken by or on behalf of the applicant. 
 
Planning Policy:  
No response. 
 
Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
First Response 
Police have no objections in principle to the scheme. It is not possible to comment in any detail as the 
illustrative site reveals few, if any, details from a designing out crime, fear of crime, antisocial 
behaviour (ASB) and conflict perspective. However, I do have some concerns regarding permeability 
through the development. The need for access to and from the adjoining public space, play area and 
existing footpath (3) is understood, however, it is recommended that the 2 access points between 
dwellings be reduced to 1, preferably this path would link directly to the proposed play space (2). This 
would allow for a wider path and suitable defensive planting for the adjacent dwellings. Generic 
advice The seven attributes of Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) are key to 
ensuring a safe and sustainable community, in addition to the layout the physical security is now a 
consideration.  
 
• Access and movement: Places with well-defined and well used routes, with spaces and entrances 
that provide for convenient movement without compromising security  
• Structure: Places that are structured so that different uses do not cause conflict  
• Surveillance: Places where all publicly accessible spaces are overlooked, have a purpose and are 
managed to prevent creating problem areas which can attract the antisocial to gather, dumping and 
dog fouling 
 • Ownership: Places that promote a sense of ownership, respect, territorial responsibility and 
community 
• Physical protection: Places that include necessary, well-designed security features as laid out in 
SBD Homes 2016  
• Activity - Places where the level of human activity is appropriate to the location and creates a 
reduced risk of crime and a sense of safety at all times.  
• Management and maintenance - Places that are designed with management and maintenance in 
mind, to discourage crime and ASB.  
 
The security element within the Building Regulations, namely Approved Document Q (ADQ) creates 
security requirements in relation to all new dwellings, including those resulting from a change of use, 
for example commercial, warehouse or barns undergoing conversion into dwellings. It also applies to 
conservation areas. 
 
All doors at the entrance to a building, including garage doors where there is a connecting door to the 
dwelling and all ground floor, basement and other easily accessible windows, including roof lights, 

Page 14



must be shown to have been manufactured to a design that has been tested to an acceptable security 
standard i.e. PAS 24 (2016) or equivalent.  
 
To assist the process in ensuring compliance with the requirements of ADQ, it is recommended that 
all doors and windows are sourced from a Secured by Design (SBD) member company. SBD requires 
that doors and windows are not only tested to meet PAS 24 (2016) standard by the product 
manufacturer, but independent third-party certification from a UKAS accredited independent third-
party certification authority is also in place, thus reducing much time and effort in establishing the 
provenance of non SBD approved products.  
 
Vehicles should preferably be parked in locked garages or on a hard standing within the dwelling 
boundary. Where communal parking areas are necessary, bays should be sited in small groups, close 
and adjacent to homes, be within view of active rooms and allocated to individual properties. 
 
From a designing out crime and disorder perspective it is vital that the parking provision for the 
proposed development is both enough when balanced against the schedule of accommodation, as 
even a one-bedroom dwelling could attract 2 vehicles, and designed that it is convenient and practical 
to use, for example, side by side parking as oppose to tandem style parking, as this will encourage its 
use and reduce the level of unplanned parking elsewhere. It is the ‘elsewhere parking’ that can 
introduce a source of conflict and rancour amongst residents, generally due to inconsiderate or 
obstructive parking and chaotic and vehicle dominated streets. With reference to ‘tandem’ parking 
above, there is ever increasing evidence from new development in the county where this design of 
parking is not being embraced, perhaps due to being inconvenient or just awkward to use, seeing the 
2nd (or 3rd) vehicle being parked elsewhere just to make life easier for the occupants. It is 
appreciated that the tandem parking design is likely to fulfil the number of parking spaces required for 
new development, but this number is likely to be much reduced if the spaces are not being utilised. In 
addition to this the problems associated with tandem parking are further exacerbated when designed 
to the front of a garage or car port. 
 
I would also advise that for all plots that private front gardens are suitably clearly defined. Open 
frontage, particularly but not exclusively, on corner plots, can for many reasons frequently lead to 
community conflict, for example, desire lines for pedestrians and cyclists are created, dog fouling, ball 
games and anti-social behaviour.  
 
Public and private space should be clearly defined and areas of ambiguity avoided with appropriate 
boundary treatments provided. Dwellings with rear/side boundaries adjacent to public footpaths and 
highways must also be protected with defensive planting.  
 
If an existing hedge is to form rear garden boundary then it must be fit for purpose. They should be of 
sufficient height and depth to provide both a consistent and effective defensive boundary as soon as 
residents move in. If additional planting will be required to achieve this then temporary fencing may be 
required until such planting has matured. Any hedge must be of a type which does not undergo 
radical seasonal change which would affect its security function. 
 
Second Response 
Thank you for this application. 
 
I have no further comments to add to those of the 24th August 2020, which remain valid. 
 
NHS S106:  
The application has been reviewed from a primary care perspective and the following comments are 
provided by NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group as their response to the application. The 
response has been informed by the Devon Health Contributions Approach: GP Provision 
(https://www.devon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policies/othercounty-policy-and-guidance) which was 
jointly prepared by NHS England and Devon County Council.  
 
In preparing this response, it is noted that the North Devon and Torridge Council Local Plan 2011 to 
2031 (adopted 29th October 2018) states that:  

Page 15



 
“10.342 Northam Parish has been subject to variable growth over the last twenty years, which has 
occurred most significantly in Westward Ho! as a result of the redevelopment of tourist 
accommodations. The parish population has increased by 26%, over the period 1991-2011 providing 
an annualised increase of about 123 persons, supported by an average dwelling completion rate of 93 
homes.  
 
(c) urban extensions to the south of Westward Ho! and Northam (as part of the provision of new site 
allocations) will accommodate significant levels of housing growth of approximately 1,240 dwellings 
that is supported by social and physical infrastructure;  
 
(4) Where the policy seeks on-site provision, alternative off-site delivery or provision through financial 
contributions of broadly equivalent value may be negotiated where it can be demonstrated that on-site 
provision is not possible or appropriate.  
 
Policy ST23: Infrastructure  
(1) Developments will be expected to provide, or contribute towards the timely provision of physical, 
social and green infrastructure made necessary by the specific and/or cumulative impact of those 
developments.  
(2) Where on-site infrastructure provision is either not feasible or not desirable, then off-site provision 
or developer contributions will be sought to secure delivery of the necessary infrastructure, through 
methods such as planning obligations or the Community Infrastructure Levy.  
(3) Developments that increase the demand for off-site services and infrastructure will only be allowed 
where sufficient capacity exists or where the extra capacity can be provided, if necessary through 
developer-funded contributions.  
 
8.18 A key principle is that new development should contribute towards the cost of additional 
infrastructure, the need for which arises from it. Where new capacity is needed, developers will be 
expected to provide, fund or contribute towards it.” 
 
The CCG’s concern is that Northam Surgery is already over capacity within its existing footprint 
therefore it follows that to have a sustainable development in human health terms the whole local 
healthcare provision will require review. The surgery already has 12,470 patients registered between 
them and this new development will increase the local population by a further 87 persons.  
 
Taking this into account and drawing upon the document “Devon Health Contributions Approach: GP 
Provision document” which was agreed by NHS England and Devon County Council, the following 
calculation has been made:  
 
Methodology for Application 1/0604/2020/OUTM  
 
1. Residential development of 39 dwellings  
2. This development is in the catchment of the Northam Surgery which has a total capacity for 10,449 
patients.  
3. The current patient list size is 12,470 which is already over capacity by 2,021 patients or at 119% of 
capability.  
4. The increased population from this development = 87 a. No of dwellings * Average occupancy rate 
= population increase b. 39 * 2.24 = 87 
5. The new GP List size will be 12,557 which is over capacity by 2,108 a. Current GP patient list + 
Population increase = Expected patient list size b. 12,470 + 87 = 12,557 (2,108 over capacity) c. If 
expected patient list size is within the existing capacity, a contribution is not required, otherwise 
continue to step 6  
6. Additional space required = 6.12 m2 a. The expected patient list size, for this size practice = 
0.07m2 b. Population increase * space requirement per patient = total space (m2) required c. 87 * 
0.07 = 6.12 m2  
7. Total contribution required = £19,569 a. Total space (m2) required * premises cost = final 
contribution calculation b. 6.12 m2 * £3,200 = £19,569 (£502 per dwelling).  
 

Page 16



Could you please acknowledge the CCG’s request for an S106 contribution towards the cost 
mitigation of the pressures on the local healthcare facility and it will form part of any future s106 
Agreement with the Developers. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
First Response 
Observations: The application is in outline with the access location and details and proposed footway 
on the A386 and principle of the site for consideration at this time. The internal layout is not for 
consideration.  
 
The proposed access onto Greenacre Close is shown to have appropriate visibility splays (43m from 
2.4m back) which can be created within land edged in red within the application boundary.  
 
The site is located within easy walking distance of a number of facilities including bus stops on the 
A386 which are frequently attended by the no.21 bus between Appledore and Bideford and on to 
Barnstaple and Ilfracombe.  
 
Windmill Lane has adequate visibility onto the A386, and this junction has no record of personal injury 
accidents in the past 5 years (1/1/15 to 31/12/19).  
 
The applicant's transport assessment indicates that the proposal would result in 23 additional vehicle 
movements in both the AM and PM peaks, I have no reason to dispute this figure and and I estimate 
there will be approximately 230 additional vehicle movements throughout the day from this proposal. 
 
While Windmill Lane does have a number of cars parked on it regularly throughout the day and 
evenings, the additional traffic likely to be generated by the proposal is not likely to result in a severe 
level of congestion or delay on Windmill Lane or lead to an unacceptable impact on highway safety. 
The majority of dwellings on Windmill Lane have some form of parking on the site, whether a garage, 
driveway or both, and these create gaps in the parked cars so that if two vehicles do meet they can 
easily pass. This is a common situation in an urban environment.  
 
The impact of vehicles on the Heywood Road Roundabout and A39 has not been assessed for this 
proposal, however from other assessments, based on the level of allocated development in this area 
it is forecast to be over capacity as a result of the cumulative impact of traffic. Devon County Council 
has a scheme for improvement at this junction as well as other junctions on the A39 which will have a 
similar fate if the cumulative impacts of development are not mitigated. It is therefore required that this 
development contributes £1,302.89 per open market dwelling towards these improvements in order to 
mitigate its cumulative impact on the A39 [1]. Such a contribution would be payable on the occupation 
of the first open market dwelling.  
 
The proposed footway on the A386 would add to the existing footway network and aid connectivity of 
the site towards Appledore.  
 
Subject to the contribution above being secured and conditions below imposed, I have no evidence to 
support a reason for the proposal being refused on highway grounds.  
 
[1] Calculated from the cost of £3,237,680 for A39 junction improvements required to mitigate the 
cumulative impact of traffic in Northam and Bideford divided by the allocated number of dwellings in 
these areas, 3550. Giving £912.02 per dwelling. This is then divided by the expected proportion of 
open market dwellings (70%). 
 
Recommendation: THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON 
BEHALF OF DEVON COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, RECOMMENDS 
THAT THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS SHALL BE INCORPORATED IN ANY GRANT OF 
PERMISSION  
 

1. The site access and visibility splays shall be constructed, laid out and maintained for that 
purpose in accordance with the approved plans where the visibility splays provide intervisibility 

Page 17



between any points on the X and Y axes at a height of 1.05 metres above the adjacent 
carriageway level and the distance back from the nearer edge of the carriageway of the public 
highway (identified as X) shall be 2.4 metres and the visibility distances along the nearer edge 
of the carriageway of the public highway ( identified as Y ) shall be at least 43 metres in both 
directions.  

 
REASON: To provide a satisfactory access to the site and to provide adequate visibility from 
and of emerging vehicles.  
 

2. Any proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, 
sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, road maintenance/vehicle 
overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture 
shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local 
Planning Authority in writing before their construction begins, For this purpose, plans and 
sections indicating, as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method 
of construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  
 
REASON: To ensure that adequate information is available for the proper consideration of the 
detailed proposals.  
 

3. Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on 
to any County Highway  
 
REASON: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway 
 

4. The occupation of any dwelling in an agreed phase of the development shall not take place 
until the following works have been carried out to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority: A) The spine road and cul-de-sac carriageway including the vehicle turning head 
within that phase shall have been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to and 
including base course level, the ironwork set to base course level and the sewers, manholes 
and service crossings completed; B) The spine road and cul-de-sac footways and footpaths 
which provide that dwelling with direct pedestrian routes to an existing highway maintainable 
at public expense have been constructed up to and including base course level; C) The cul-
de-sac visibility splays have been laid out to their final level; D) The street lighting for the spine 
road and cul-de-sac and footpaths has been erected and is operational; E) The car parking 
and any other vehicular access facility required for the dwelling by this permission has/have 
been completed; F) The verge and service margin and vehicle crossing on the road frontage 
of the dwelling have been completed with the highway boundary properly defined; G) The 
street nameplates for the spine road and cul-de-sac have been provided and erected.  
 
REASON: To ensure that adequate access and associated facilities are available for the traffic 
attracted to the site 

 
5. No part of the development hereby approved shall be commenced until: A) The access road 

has been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to base course level for the first 10 
metres back from its junction with the public highway B) The ironwork has been set to base 
course level and the visibility splays required by this permission laid out C) The footway on the 
public highway frontage required by this permission has been constructed up to base course 
level D) A site compound and car park have been constructed to the written satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority  
 
REASON: To ensure that adequate on site facilities are available for all traffic attracted to the 
site during the construction period, in the interest of the safety of all users of the adjoining 
public highway and to protect the amenities of the adjoining residents 

 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
First Response 

Page 18



I refer to the above application and your recent consultation. Archaeological investigations undertaken 
within the southern part of the application area to be occupied by housing has demonstrated that the 
archaeological potential of the site is low and no further archaeological mitigation is required here. 
However, the northern element of the site has not been subject to a programme of intrusive 
archaeological work and there is potential for the site to contain archaeological and artefactual 
deposits associated with early settlement in the area. A findspot of a Roman brooch in this area may 
indicate the presence of Roman activity in the vicinity. As such, groundworks for the construction of 
the proposed development have the potential to expose and destroy archaeological and artefactual 
deposits associated with these heritage assets. The impact of development upon the archaeological 
resource here should be mitigated by a programme of archaeological work that should investigate, 
record and analyse the archaeological evidence that will otherwise be destroyed by the proposed 
development.  
 
The Historic Environment Team recommends that this application should be supported by the 
submission of a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) setting out a programme of archaeological 
work to be undertaken in mitigation for the loss of heritage assets with archaeological interest. The 
WSI should be based on national standards and guidance and be approved by the Historic 
Environment Team. 
 
If a Written Scheme of Investigation is not submitted prior to determination the Historic Environment 
Team would advise, for the above reasons and in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon 
and Torridge Local Plan 2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019), that any consent your Authority may be minded to issue should carry the condition as worded 
below, based on model Condition 55 as set out in Appendix A of Circular 11/95, whereby:  
 
No development shall take place until the developer has secured the implementation of a programme 
of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI) which has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in accordance with the approved scheme, or such other details as may be 
subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason 'To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 
2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), that an 
appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the development 
 
This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the archaeological works are agreed and 
implemented prior to any disturbance of archaeological deposits by the commencement of 
preparatory and/or construction works.  
 
I would envisage a suitable programme of work as taking the form of a staged programme of 
archaeological works, commencing with the excavation of a series of evaluative trenches within the 
area to be occupied by the play-space and water attenuation pond to determine the presence and 
significance of any heritage assets with archaeological interest that will be affected by the 
development. Based on the results of this initial stage of works the requirement and scope of any 
further archaeological mitigation can be determined and implemented either in advance of or during 
construction works. This archaeological mitigation work may take the form of full area excavation in 
advance of groundworks or the monitoring and recording of groundworks associated with the 
construction of the proposed development to allow for the identification, investigation and recording of 
any exposed archaeological or artefactual deposits. The results of the fieldwork and any post-
excavation analysis undertaken would need to be presented in an appropriately detailed and 
illustrated report, and the finds and archive deposited in accordance with relevant national and local 
guidelines. 
 
I will be happy to discuss this further with you, the applicant or their agent. The Historic Environment 
Team can also provide the applicant with advice of the scope of the works required, as well as contact 
details for archaeological contractors who would be able to undertake this work. Provision of detailed 
advice to non-householder developers may incur a charge. For further information on the historic 

Page 19



environment and planning, and our charging schedule please refer the applicant to: 
https://new.devon.gov.uk/historicenvironment/development-management/ 
 
Second Response 
I refer to the above application and further to the representations sent to the Planning Authority from 
Mr Nick Arnold and the Battlefields Trust, the Historic Environment Team have no additional 
comments to make on this planning application to those already made, namely:  
 
Archaeological investigations undertaken within the southern part of the application area to be 
occupied by housing has demonstrated that the archaeological potential of the site is low and no 
further archaeological mitigation is required here. However, the northern element of the site has not 
been subject to a programme of intrusive archaeological work and there is potential for the site to 
contain archaeological and artefactual deposits associated with early settlement in the area. A 
findspot of a Roman brooch in this area may indicate the presence of Roman activity in the vicinity. As 
such, groundworks for the construction of the proposed development have the potential to expose 
and destroy archaeological and artefactual deposits associated with these heritage assets. The 
impact of development upon the archaeological resource here should be mitigated by a programme of 
archaeological work that should investigate, record and analyse the archaeological evidence that will 
otherwise be destroyed by the proposed development.  
 
The Historic Environment Team recommends that this application should be supported by the 
submission of a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) setting out a programme of archaeological 
work to be undertaken in mitigation for the loss of heritage assets with archaeological interest. The 
WSI should be based on national standards and guidance and be approved by the Historic 
Environment Team. 
 
If a Written Scheme of Investigation is not submitted prior to determination the Historic Environment 
Team would advise, for the above reasons and in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon 
and Torridge Local Plan 2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019), that any consent your Authority may be minded to issue should carry the condition as worded 
below, based on model Condition 55 as set out in Appendix A of Circular 11/95, whereby:  
 
‘No development shall take place until the developer has secured the implementation of a programme 
of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI) which has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in accordance with the approved scheme, or such other details as may be 
subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason 'To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 
2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), that an 
appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the development' 
 
This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the archaeological works are agreed and 
implemented prior to any disturbance of archaeological deposits by the commencement of 
preparatory and/or construction works.  
 
I would envisage a suitable programme of work as taking the form of a staged programme of 
archaeological works, commencing with the excavation of a series of evaluative trenches within the 
area to be occupied by the play-space and water attenuation pond to determine the presence and 
significance of any heritage assets with archaeological interest that will be affected by the 
development. Based on the results of this initial stage of works the requirement and scope of any 
further archaeological mitigation can be determined and implemented either in advance of or during 
construction works. This archaeological mitigation work may take the form of full area excavation in 
advance of groundworks or the monitoring and recording of groundworks associated with the 
construction of the proposed development to allow for the identification, investigation and recording of 
any exposed archaeological or artefactual deposits. The results of the fieldwork and any post-
excavation analysis undertaken would need to be presented in an appropriately detailed and 

Page 20



illustrated report, and the finds and archive deposited in accordance with relevant national and local 
guidelines.  
 
I will be happy to discuss this further with you, the applicant or their agent. The Historic Environment 
Team can also provide the applicant with advice of the scope of the works required, as well as contact 
details for archaeological contractors who would be able to undertake this work. Provision of detailed 
advice to non-householder developers may incur a charge. For further information on the historic 
environment and planning, and our charging schedule please refer the applicant to: 
https://new.devon.gov.uk/historicenvironment/development-management/. 
 
Third Response 
I have recently provided comments to the applicant’s archaeological contractor - Cotswold 
Archaeology - on the Written Scheme of Investigation submitted in support of this planning 
application, and am awaiting an amended version to be submitted for approval by the Historic 
Environment Team. As such, I would advise that the current Written Scheme of Investigation 
(Cotswold Archaeology project ref: AN0229 Revision A and dated 7/10/20) is not approved by the 
Planning Authority and needs to be revised in the light of comments made by this office.  
 
The Historic Environment Team have been informed that the revised document will be submitted 
shortly.  
 
Please do contact me if you have any queries. 
 
Fourth Response 
I can confirm that the programme of archaeological works as described in the revised Written Scheme 
of Investigation (WSI) submitted by your organisation - Cotswold Archaeology - (CA Project: AN0229 
WSI Revision B and dated: 25/11/20) is acceptable to the Historic Environment Team.  
 
The acceptance of the WSI by this office does not represent the discharge of any archaeological 
condition that may be applied to any consent granted.  
 
If the WSI is being submitted in support of a planning application or to discharge a condition then the 
WSI needs to be submitted, either by the applicant or their agent, to the Local Planning Authority 
(LPA) for their formal approval - to replace the WSI previously submitted to the LPA - and, if required, 
to enable them to discharge the condition prior to any development commencing on site. The 
applicant should ensure that the archaeological works are implemented as described in order to avoid 
breach of the Condition.  
 
I would be grateful if I could be copied in on the formal submission to the LPA.  
 
Please do contact me if you have any queries. We will be raising an invoice for post-application 
archaeological advice that will be sent to you shortly. The charge will be in accordance with the DCC 
HET Charging Schedule. 
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  16  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  78 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  77  

 
77 Objections have been received.  The following issues have been raised: 
 

- Highway safety (x67) 
- Destruction of community garden (x5) 
- Housing not needed (x5) 
- Pressure on local services / infrastructure (x19) 
- Bloody Corner access would be more appropriate (x16) 

Page 21



- Impact on public rights of way (x15) 
- Parking pressure (x29) 
- Concern about future residents 
- Site has historic value (x15) 
- Biodiversity impact (x22) 
- Contrary to local / neighbourhood plan / planning policy (x23) 
- Poor access for emergency vehicles (x6) 
- Impact of construction phase (x9) 
- Loss of green space / impact on character / coalescence (x31) 
- Lack of employment 
- Development will be second homes (x2) 
- Surface water issues (x7) 
- Significant harm to amenity (x9) 
- Increased light pollution (x9) 
- Loss of trees / hedgerows 
- Noise pollution (x14) 
- Precedent (x3) 
- Development can be delivered elsewhere 
- Application is misleading 
- Drainage issues exacerbated (x5) 
- Site is within AONB 
- Two storey houses not appropriate 
- Application is misleading 
- Overdevelopment (x2) 
- Publicity insufficient 
- Loss of agricultural land 
- Community engagement insufficient (x2) 
- Inconsistent with climate emergency (x2) 
- Excessive time taken to determine application 

 
The following issues have been raised in objection comments; however they are not material 
considerations in the determination of the application: 
 

- That greed is the motivation for the application (x8) 
- Loss of view (x4) 

 
Two general comments have been received.  The following issues have been raised: 
 

- Detail in relation to the archaeological potential at the site 
- Query relating to the submitted Written Scheme of Investigaiton (WSI) 

 
No letters of support have been received. 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031: 
 
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST06 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern 
Devon's Strategic and Main Centres); ST07 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's 
Rural Area); NOR (Northam Spatial Vision and Development Strategy); ST09 (Coast and Estuary 
Strategy); ST21 (Managing the Delivery of Housing); ST17 (A Balanced Local Housing Market); ST18 
(Affordable Housing on Development Sites); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); DM04 
(Design Principles); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); ST15 (Conserving Heritage 
Assets); DM07 (Historic Environment); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM08 (Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); ST10 (Transport Strategy); DM05 
(Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); ST03 (Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening 
Resilience); ST23 (Infrastructure); DM02 (Environmental Protection);  

Page 22



 
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main considerations with this application are: 

- Principle of Development 

- Landscape Character and Visual Impact  

- Heritage and Archaeology 

- Residential Amenity 

- Biodiversity 

- Highways 

- Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 

- Infrastructure 

- Tilted Balance and Conclusion 

 
1. Principle of Development 

  

Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning law (namely 

Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & 

Country Planning Act 1990) requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF 

must be taken into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans and is a material 

consideration in planning decisions.   

Northam is designated as a Main Centre by Policy ST06 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 

2011-2031 (NDTLP).  Policy ST06 clarifies that The Main Centres will support appropriate levels of 

growth that will increase the towns’ capacities to increase self-containment, to meet their own needs 

and those of surrounding communities where such is sought through the local vision.  However, the 

site lies outside the Northam development boundary, with its southern and western boundaries 

adjoining the eastern edge of the development boundary.  Consequently, the site lies within the 

countryside in planning terms. 

Policy ST07 clarifies that in the Countryside, beyond Local Centres, Villages and Rural Settlements, 

development will be limited to that which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs, rural 

building reuse and development which is necessarily restricted to a Countryside location.  It is 

considered that the proposed open market led residential development does not represent one of 

these acceptable uses in a countryside location.  As such, the proposal is contrary to Policy ST07. 

Policy NOR sets out the Northam Spatial Vision and Development Strategy, and establishes that the 

Spatial Vision for the settlement is as follows: 

‘Northam will build upon its strengths taking advantage of its coastal location.  Westward Ho! will be 

established as a thriving coastal resort and Appledore will develop further as a centre for maritime 

activities. The development of marine based industries and a quality tourism offer will contribute to re-

balancing Northam's community and add economic value to the area. 

Page 23



The three centres will continue to provide a range of services and facilities to meet locally generated 

needs and to accommodate the expanded needs of visitors to the area. Across Appledore, Northam 

and Westward Ho! a range of housing appropriate to local needs will be provided. Development will 

be supported by necessary infrastructure that will be delivered in a manner to minimise deficiencies 

against service capacity. 

In meeting the future growth needs of the area, development will be delivered without prejudice to 

valued environment and historic assets having due regard to the importance of the areas setting and 

landscape quality.’ 

Policy NOR goes on to set out the Spatial Development Strategy for Northam, as follows: 

‘Over the period to 2031, the Local Plan will enable significant growth of high quality development 

which is supported by necessary infrastructure to meet the needs of Northam Parish. Achieved 

development will be delivered having regard to the settlement’s setting in the landscape and the 

special character of the area provided by a coastal location. Specifically, the Local Plan will support: 

(a) provision of a minimum of 1,916 dwellings to meet all the communities housing needs, including 

affordable and supported homes together with an expanded supply to meet the increasing needs of 

the area's ageing population, which will be supported with associated development and infrastructure 

on a continuous basis; 

(b) in addition to existing commitments, new site allocations, including capacity provided by previously 

developed sites, will be required to provide approximately 1,740 dwellings; 

(c) urban extensions to the south of Westward Ho! and Northam (as part of the provision of new site 

allocations) will accommodate significant levels of housing growth of approximately 1,240 dwellings 

that is supported by social and physical infrastructure; 

(d) employment will be supported by safeguarding and developing upon important economic 

resources, significantly in relation to Appledore Shipyard, port facilities and tourism assets; 

(e) deliver economic growth through capitalising on enhanced levels of assistance offered by the 

Assisted Areas status; 

(f) support for key site regeneration and new site development in Westward Ho! that would positively 

contribute to the centre's role as a coastal resort and result in an extension of the tourism season, 

through securing improved access to the resort and qualitative improvements to facilities, attractions 

and visitor accommodation; 

(g) support for development at Northam Burrows that would improve the visitor offer through the 

provision of enhanced facilities and infrastructure; 

(h) avoidance of development that would contribute to coalescence between Appledore and Northam 

and the designated Green Wedge in Northam; 

(i) social and community facilities will be required to support new development and address 

established needs, including an expansion of education capacity and recreation and sports facilities; 

(j) new developments will meet their own infrastructure requirements and will contribute to sustainable 

movement, including improved routes and facilities for cycling and walking. Improved capacity at 

Heywood Road roundabout will also be required together with improvements to A39/B3236 junction to 

accommodate increased traffic movements from Bideford and Northam. Improved sea defences at 

Page 24



Westward Ho! will also be pursued as necessary to address the consequences of climate change; 

and 

(k) development that respects the landscape setting including the special landscape character and 

qualities of the adjoining Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.’ 

Taking account of the Spatial Vision and Spatial Development Strategy, it is clear that the site is not 

allocated for residential development.  Nevertheless, the proposal would make a contribution to 

meeting the housing needs of the community and includes various contributions to infrastructure 

within the area, as discussed in full in the following sections of this report. 

Criterion (h) above seeks to avoid development that would contribute to coalescence between 

Northam and Appledore.  In this regard, whilst the site is located outside the defined development 

boundary, it is noted that existing development on the western side of the A386 public highway 

already extends further to the north west, towards Appledore, than is the case in respect of the site.  

As such, the proposal would not extend Northam’s built form any closer to Appledore than is currently 

the case. 

Criterion (i) focuses on the provision of social and community facilities, including the expansion of 

education capacity and recreation and sports facilities.  The proposal includes a financial contribution 

of £106,987.53 towards the expansion and / or enhancement of primary education provision, as well 

as on site recreation facilities. 

In respect of criterion (j); the proposal would make a number of financial contributions, which would be 

used to deliver improvements to infrastructure within the area.  These contributions are set out in full 

in section 8 below. 

Criterion (k), and the impact of the proposal on landscape character is discussed in full in section 2 

below.  It is however clear that the character and appearance of the existing greenfield site would be 

irreversibly altered by the residential development proposed.  

Taking account of the above, notwithstanding that the site is located outside of the defined 

development boundary, it is your officer’s view that the proposal would make a contribution to the 

stated aims of Policy NOR, noting however the clear resultant change in the character and 

appearance of the site. 

The site is also located within the Coast and Estuary Zone.  In this regard, Policy ST09 sets out a 

number of policy aims relating to the development of various uses within the zone in a sustainable 

manner whilst at the same time seeking to protect the environmental assets of the area.  The zone is 

divided into the Developed Coast and Undeveloped Coast based on various criteria that are set out 

within the supporting text to the policy.  It is your officer’s view that the site does not meet the criteria 

to be considered as part of the Developed Coast, with the result that it is part of the Undeveloped 

Coast.  In this regard, part (7) of the policy establishes that development should be in the 

Undeveloped Coast because it cannot reasonably be located outside of this area.  It is considered 

that a residential development of 39 dwellings could reasonably be located outside of the 

Undeveloped Coast, with the result that the proposal is contrary to this part of Policy ST09.  The 

impact of the proposal on landscape character, the biodiversity value of the area and water quality will 

be considered in full in the sections below. 

Taking account of all of the above, it is your officer’s view that the proposal is contrary to NDTLP 

policies ST06, ST07, and parts of NOR and ST09.  

Page 25



Notwithstanding the above policy conflicts, as a result of the Burwood Appeal 

(APP/W1145/W/19/3238460), the Council accepts that it cannot currently demonstrate a five year 

supply of deliverable housing sites (5YHLS); with the appeal concluding that there is a supply of 4.23 

years across Northern Devon. By virtue of not being able to demonstrate a 5YHLS, there is a need to 

apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development (the 'Presumption') (paragraph 11(d), 

NPPF) as a material consideration in determining planning applications for housing. 

Paragraph 11 (d) notes: 

Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 

determining the application are out-of-date, Local Planning Authorities should grant planning 

permission unless: 

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance (National Parks, AONB, SSSI, Heritage Assets, Habitat Sites) provides a clear 

reason for refusing the development proposed; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 

when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

For the purposes of the Presumption, policies of the development plan are not considered to be 

automatically out of date by virtue of not being able to demonstrate a 5YHLS. Whether a policy of the 

development plan is out of date is a matter for the decision taker, in light of their substance and 

considering their conformity with the NPPF. As the NDTLP was adopted relatively recently, none of 

the policies are generally considered to be out of date for the application of the Presumption. 

The Presumption is set out in two parts by Paragraph 11 (d) of the NPPF, however, as this proposal 

does not harm a 'protected area', the decision maker in this case only needs to consider the NPPF's 

requirement to grant permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits; the so-called tilted balance (Paragraph 11(d)(i), NPPF). 

In addition to the 'tilted balance', some weight can be given to Policy ST21 of the NDTLP which 

relates to managing the delivery of housing.  In particular, ST21(2) is relevant, which supports 

development outside of settlement limits (where completions are below 90% of the annual 

requirement). The Burwood Appeal decision determined that ST21(2) is currently engaged, which 

requires any proposal to be in a location and of a scale and nature commensurate with the deficit in 

required housing (criterion a); demonstrate the ability to contribute in a timely manner to addressing 

the deficit in housing supply (criterion b); be broadly consistent with the plan’s spatial strategy/vision 

along with the relevant settlement vision and development strategy (criterion c); and be compliant with 

the remaining plan where relevant (criterion d). Addressing each of these points in turn:  

(a) The deficit of housing within Northern Devon is clearly substantial as a 5YHLS supply cannot 

be proven. The proposal for 39 dwellings can assist in the contribution towards a 5YHLS. The 

proposal is considered to accord with (a).  

(b) The application is made in outline, with all matters except access reserved for future 

consideration.  As a result, reserved matters approval would need to be obtained and any pre-

commencement conditions would need to be discharged, prior to commencement on site.  

Once on site, the development of 39 dwellings would unlikely be built out in a single phase.  

Given these factors, it is unlikely that the development would come forward in a timely 

manner.  It is noted however that any forthcoming planning permission could stipulate a 

shorter time period for the implementation of the permission.  The proposal is not considered 

to accord with (b). 

Page 26



(c) As discussed earlier, it is your officer’s view that the proposal would contribute to a number of 

the stated aims of Policy NOR.  From a wider perspective, taking account of the plan’s overall 

spatial vision, Northam is designated as a Main Centre by Policy ST06 in recognition of its 

scale and range of facilities and services to support the day to day needs of its inhabitants.  

Policy ST06 includes an intention to increase self-containment, and in this regard it should be 

noted that the proposal includes a range of benefits including the provision of on-site green 

space and affordable housing, as well as a number of financial contributions towards 

infrastructure such as health facilities, education provision and highways improvements.  From 

a sustainability perspective the NDTLP seeks to direct residential development towards 

locations that can offer a broad range of services and facilities that can be accessed via 

sustainable modes of transport.  It is your officer’s view that the proposal accords with this 

broad sustainability aim and that it is consistent with the NDTLP’s overall spatial vision.  In 

addition, a development of 39 dwellings would not be prejudicial to the NDTLP’s hierarchical 

approach to locate development within the district’s most major settlements.  It is considered 

that the proposal is consistent with criterion (c). 

(d) The following sections of this report assess the proposal in the context of the other relevant 

NDTLP policies.   

Taking account of the above, it is considered that there is some conflict with Policy ST21(2), however 

there are clear benefits associated with the proposal that would go some way to meeting the policy 

aims of the Northam area as well as district wide aims. 

The following sections of this report provide an assessment of the other material considerations 

pursuant to the application, followed by the planning balance to weigh the factors in support of and 

against the granting of planning permission, which will enable a conclusion to be made in relation to 

The Presumption and the tilted balance, in accordance with paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF. 

2. Landscape Character and Visual Impact 

 

Policies ST04 and DM04 of the NDTLP all have a strong design focus and establish the need for 

development to be appropriate in, and have respect for, its context and setting. In addition, Policy 

DM08A requires development to respect landscape character of both designated and undesignated 

landscapes and seascapes.  Policy ST09(7) follows a similar policy direction and seeks to ensure that 

development does not detract from the unspoilt character, appearance and tranquillity of the area. 

The application is accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) prepared by 

Clark Landscape Design dated October 2018. 

It should be noted that the application is made in outline, with details of layout, scale, appearance and 

landscaping to be considered as one or more reserved matters applications in the future.  

Notwithstanding, it is appropriate to undertake an assessment of landscape character and visual 

impact at this outline stage. 

The LVIA notes that the site is located within the Landscape Character Type (LCT) 5B; Coastal 

Undulating Farmland, as defined by the Joint Landscape Character Assessment for North Devon and 

Torridge Districts, 2011. 

LCT5B is characterised as follows: 

- Strongly rolling landscape with prominent ridges and hilltops, influenced by the close proximity of 

the sea. 

Page 27



- Underlying geology of mudstones and siltstones with bands of more resistant sandstone creating 

the undulating landform. 

- Pervading maritime influence with long coastal views, including westwards towards Clovelly and 

eastwards to development at Bideford, Westward Ho! and the north-west peninsula (including 

Baggy Point). 

- Linear bands of broadleaved woodland, occasional small mixed woods and blocks of conifer 

plantation combined with a strong network of hedges resulting in a well-treed appearance. 

- Strong pattern of regular medium-large fields of post-medieval and modern origin, interspersed 

with significant areas of smaller curving or medieval strip fields (e.g. around Cranford, Woolsery, 

Horns Cross and Rickard’s Down). 

- Fields bounded by mixed species Devon hedges with flower-rich banks and some sections of 

stone facing. The use of hawthorn, hazel, elm and/or beech is locally characteristic. Patches of 

gorse reinforce a sense of exposure.  

- Predominantly pastoral land use, with occasional arable fields and patches of rough grazing land.  

- Nature conservation interest mainly provided by the area’s network of woodlands and hedges, 

with isolated sites of Culm grassland, unimproved species-rich grassland and scrub interspersed 

within the farmland. Coastal locations include patches of maritime grassland, wet flushes and 

bracken scrub.  

- Historic features include prehistoric defensive sites at Godborough Castle, Clovelly Dykes and on 

the eastern slopes above Buck’s Mill, as well as medieval defences and an 18th century castle at 

Kenwith.  

- Traditional built vernacular of whitewashed and cream cob/render cottages, with some buildings of 

exposed local stone with red brick detailing. Recent housing, including cream/white bungalows, is 

a feature of some villages.  

- Dispersed settlement pattern of scattered farmsteads and nucleated villages/hamlets at road 

crossing points. 

- Settlement and farms linked by a network of rural roads enclosed by high hedgebanks. The main 

A39 cuts through the area.  

- The urban areas of Bideford, Northam and Westward Ho! have a significant influence in the east, 

including urban fringe land uses such as horse keeping and a heliport. Holiday parks and caravan 

sites feature in the landscape, though these are largely well screened by woodland and 

topography.  

The LVIA sets out eight viewpoints (PV1-8) which form the basis of the assessment of the visual 

impact of the proposal.  It is agreed that the viewpoints are reasonable locations from which to 

undertake a comprehensive assessment. 

The LVIA assesses the visual impact from seven of the eight viewpoints as being minor, and as 

neutral from the other.  The LVIA notes the undulating topography which will assist in partially 

screening the development and considers that the proposed shelterbelt to the eastern boundary will 

further mitigate the visual impact when the site is viewed from the east.  Additional tree and hedgerow 

planting and domestic landscaping will also further soften the visual impact.   The LVIA also suggests 

that the use of slate grey roofing materials would provide further mitigation.   

Page 28



The assessment set out within the LVIA is generally considered to be comprehensive and the 

conclusions reasonable, in your officer’s view.  It is considered that the impact from viewpoint 5, 

looking towards the site from Windmill Lane, would be greater than stated, by reason of the lack of 

built form that is currently within that view.  In addition, it is clear that the character of the site would 

change as a result of the proposal, from an open agricultural field to a developed residential area.  

Further, whilst the proposed mitigation of the shelter belt to the eastern boundary and improvements 

to the boundary hedgerows are noted, these would take time to establish.  Nonetheless, it agreed that 

the overall impact would be minor.  As discussed earlier, the site borders the development boundary 

on its southern and eastern sides, with the result that the existing development on the eastern side of 

the A386 extends further to the north than would be the case in respect of the proposal.  In addition, 

the development would extend no further to the east than the existing built form on Windmill Lane, 

which is sited at a more elevated level that the proposed development. 

Whilst the proposed site plan is indicative at this stage, it is positive to see that the proposed built 

form is shown located solely within the site’s southernmost field.  It is your officer’s view that the more 

northern of the two fields has a greater sensitivity to change and that its development would result in a 

more significant visual impact and harm to landscape character.  This is a matter for future 

consideration as part of reserved matters application, however the indicative site plan is useful insofar 

that it demonstrates that the quantum of 39 dwellings can be wholly contained within the southern 

field. 

Taking account of all of the above, it is your officer’s view that the visual impact of the proposal and 

impact on landscape character would amount to minor harm.  As such, the proposal is considered to 

be contrary to policies ST04, DM04, DM08A and ST09(7). 

3. Heritage and Archaeology 

 

Policies ST15 and DM07 of the NDTLP seek to protect the historic environment.  Paragraph 196 of 

the NPPF advises that ‘Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 

significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits 

of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.’ 

The application is accompanied by a Heritage Desk-Based Assessment prepared by Cotswold 

Archaeology dated July 2020. 

Historic England has advised that it has no comments to make. 

The Council’s Conservation Officer has provided comments in respect of the proposal, noting the 

location of the memorial stone at Bloody Corner.  The comments advise that the setting of the stone 

would be altered as a result of the development, as the views to the river and down Hyde Lane would 

be affected.  The Conservation Officer acknowledges that the change in setting would detract from 

the interpretation of the stone and its rural setting, but considers that the resultant harm would be less 

than substantial.  This harm will need to be weighed against any public benefits of the scheme, as 

required by paragraph 196 of the NPPF. 

The County Council’s Senior Historic Environment Officer has also provided comments.  The 

comments clarify that the archaeological potential of the southern part of the site is low and that no 

further mitigation is required.  In relation to the northern part of the site, no intrusive archaeological 

investigation has been undertaken and there is potential for artefacts associated with an early 

settlement to be present.   A Roman brooch has been discovered in this area which may indicate the 

presence of Roman activity.  Consequently, the officer initially recommended that a condition be 

attached to any forthcoming planning permission requiring the submission, approval and 

Page 29



implementation of a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI).  Subsequent comments received indicate 

that the Senior Historic Environment Officer has received and reviewed a WSI from the applicant’s 

consultants and that he is satisfied that it meets the requirements of the condition.  He notes however 

that the WSI needs to be submitted to the local planning authority.  The WSI does not appear to have 

been submitted by the applicant, with the result that it is recommended that the WSI condition be 

attached to any forthcoming planning permission. 

Representations have been made from a local historian and The Battlefields Trust that the site is the 

likely location and setting of the Battle of Northam in 1069.  This issue has been discussed with the 

County Council’s Senior Historic Officer, who has confirmed that there is no evidence that the site is 

the location of the battle, and that he is comfortable in his recommendation that a WSI will adequately 

mitigate the impact of the proposal on the archaeological potential of the site. 

In conclusion, it is your officer’s view that the proposal is contrary to policies ST15 and DM07, by 

virtue of the impact of the proposal on the setting of the memorial stone, noting however that the harm 

is less than substantial. 

4. Residential Amenity 

 

Policy DM01 of the NDTLP confirms that development will be supported where it would not 

significantly harm the amenities of neighbouring occupiers or uses, or result in harm to the future 

occupiers of the development from existing or allocated uses. 

There are a number of residential dwellings within close proximity to the site’s southern and western 

boundaries, located on Windmill Lane and Greenacre Close.  Whilst it is noted that layout, scale, 

appearance and landscaping are reserved matters, it is your officer’s view that a sensitively designed 

scheme would ensure that the residential amenities of these nearby dwellings would not be 

significantly harmed by the proposal.  An existing public of right of way follows part of the western site 

boundary and will provide a degree of separation between the site and adjoining development, whilst 

the dwellings on Windmill Lane are set at a higher level than the site.  In relation to the northern part 

of the site, the nearest dwellings are located on the opposite side of the A386. 

 

Taking account of the above, it is concluded that the proposal accords with Policy DM01 of the 

NDTLP. 

 

5. Biodiversity 

 

Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 

is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is also 

supported by Policy DM08 of the NDTLP.   

In addition, Policy ST14 seeks to deliver biodiversity enhancement through development. 

The application is accompanied by an Ecological Appraisal prepared by Quantock Ecology Ltd dated 

April 2020. 

The submitted appraisal advises that the site offers habitat for nesting birds and reptiles, as well as 

possibly for dormice.  As such, the ecologist recommends that vegetation is cut by hand and 

maintaining a low sward prior to construction beginning.  No vegetation should be removed between 1 

March and 31 August.  The appraisal confirms that no further surveys are required. 

Page 30



In relation to enhancement, the appraisal suggests wildlife friendly lighting, bird and bat boxes, 

landscaping of biodiversity value and installation of insect hotels could all be considered.  The 

appraisal also notes that a site specific mitigation and enhancement plan could be prepared once the 

detailed design and layout is known. 

Subject to conditions to secure the above, it is your officer’s view that the proposal accords with the 

above-mentioned policies and legislation. 

6. Highways 

 

Policies ST10 and DM05 of the NDTLP seek, inter alia, to ensure that development does not 

adversely affect the local or strategic highway network and that vehicular accesses are safe and well 

designed.  In addition, DM06 of the NDTLP seeks to ensure that appropriate parking provision is 

delivered as part of development.  Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only 

be refused if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or if the residual cumulative 

impacts on the road network would be severe.  Paragraph 108 states, inter alia, that any significant 

impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on 

highway safety, should be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree. 

 

The application is accompanied by a Transport Statement prepared by Bellamy Transport 

Consultancy dated June 2019. 

 

The local Highways Authority has confirmed that they have no objection to the application subject to a 

number of conditions.  The Highways Development Management Officer notes that the required 

visibility splays of 43m can be achieved from the proposed access with Greenacre Close and that 

visibility onto the A386 from Windmill Lane is also acceptable.  The proximity of the site to sustainable 

transport options is also noted.  The scale of development proposed is unlikely to result in an 

unacceptable impact on highway safety or a severe impact in relation to the operation of the public 

highway.  The officer also notes the benefit of the proposed footpath on the A386.  Finally, the officer 

has requested a financial contribution of £1302.89 per dwelling towards improvements to the 

Heywood Road roundabout to mitigate the impact of the development. 

 

A Public Right of Way (PROW) (Footpath 7) crosses between the two parcels of land that comprise 

the site, with a second PROW (Footpath 10) following the western site boundary of the southern 

parcel.  The proposed site access would cross the second of these PROWs.  The Devon County 

Council Area Rights of Way Warden requested further information to demonstrate how the PROWs 

will be safeguarded and maintained in the future.  In response, the applicant’s highways consultant 

has advised that Footpath 7 would not be affected in the long term by the proposal.  If a temporary 

diversion is required, the applicant will make the necessary application to Devon County Council.  The 

application proposes to upgrade the surface with a stone to dust construction specification.  No 

barriers are proposed to be erected at the point that the proposed access crosses Footpath 10 and 

the kissing gates at either end of the PROW would be retained.  The applicant proposes that the 

PROWs would be maintained by the local highways authority, as is currently the case.  No further 

comments have been received from the Area Rights of Way Warden; however it is your officer’s view 

that the proposals in this regard would ensure that the PROWs would be adequately safeguarded, 

subject to a condition relating to the resurfacing material in respect of Footpath 10. 

 

Taking account of the above, it is concluded that the proposal accords with the above policies. 

 

7. Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 

 

Page 31



Policy ST03 of the NDTLP seeks to minimise flood risk through: 

 

(i) avoiding the development of land for vulnerable uses which is or will be at risk from flooding, 

and 

(ii) managing and reducing flood risk for development where that has wider sustainability or 

regeneration benefits to the community, or where there is no reasonable alternative site. 

Policy DM04 establishes that effective water management must be addressed by development.   

The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy prepared by 

RMA Environmental dated August 2018.   

The Lead Local Flood Authority’s (LLFA) initial response advised that they have no in principle 

objection to the proposal, however concern was raised in relation to the calculations of the greenfield 

runoff rates and the long term storage volume.  The LLFA also requested that the applicant consider 

SuDS features at this outline application stage and that the possibility of infiltration should also be 

considered.  Further consideration to maintenance and exceedance flows also needed to be 

considered further. 

Further to the submission of further information in respect of the above, the LLFA confirmed that it has 

no objection to the proposals subject to a pre-commencement condition being attached to any 

forthcoming planning permission. 

It is concluded that the proposal accords with policies ST03 and DM04. 

8. Infrastructure 

 

Policy ST23 of the NDTLP establishes that development will be expected to contribute to physical, 

social and green infrastructure to mitigate the impact of the development. 

In this regard, the applicant has agreed to provide financial contributions as follows: 

 

- £50,812.71 towards Heywood Road roundabout improvements 

- £106,987.53 towards the expansion and / or enhancement of primary education provision 

- £9,952.00 towards the procurement of a new primary school site 

- £9,750.00 towards early years provision 

- £19,569 towards health services provision at Northam Surgery 

 

The development would also generate demand for various elements of green infrastructure.  Whilst 

layout is not a matter to be considered at this time, the indicative site plan shows that the northern 

parcel of land would be used to accommodate green space facilities and the SuDS attenuation pond.  

Consequently, in the event that Plans Committee resolved to grant outline planning permission, the 

green space typologies to be provided on site would be determined in conjunction with Northam Town 

Council.  Any residual demand would be mitigated by a financial contribution, secured by the Section 

106 agreement, to contribute to the provision or enhancement of off site facilities.    

 

On the basis of the proposed 39 dwellings, the above contributions would total £197,071.24.  This 

amount would be secured by a Section 106 agreement. 

 

9. Tilted Balance and Conclusion 

 

Page 32



As discussed earlier, the local planning authority cannot currently demonstrate a five-year housing 

land supply.  As a result, in accordance with paragraph 11(d)(i) of the NPPF, the decision maker must 

consider the NPPF's requirement to grant permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  This is the ‘tiled balance’.  It is necessary to 

balance the matters that weigh in favour of the application with any harm that would result. 

 

The 39 dwellings proposed would make a valuable contribution to the housing stock within Northam at 

a time when the Local Planning Authority cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing land.  

Significant weight must be given to this issue.  30% of these dwellings would be affordable homes, 

which would provide a social benefit. 

 

The proposals would deliver economic benefits associated with the creation of employment 

opportunities during construction and to the local economy from 39 new households. 

Biodiversity net gain at the site would also be delivered by the proposal. 

The proposal would also provide on site green space provision to meet the needs of the future 

occupiers of the site and the surrounding area.  

Financial contributions equal to £197,071.24 would also be delivered as part of the proposal, which 

would fund improvements to local infrastructure. 

Turning to the harm associated with the proposal, the development would alter the character of the 

site within the Undeveloped Coast and would adversely affect the setting of the memorial stone at 

Bloody Corner.  In relation to paragraph 196 of the NPPF, it is considered that the harm to the 

memorial stone would be outweighed by the provision of affordable housing, which is a clear public 

benefit associated with the proposal. 

As set out in the above sections, it is your officer’s view that the harm to the character of the site 

would be minor and the harm to the setting of the memorial stone would be less than substantial.  As 

such, taking account of the significant weight to be given to the provision of 39 dwellings at a time 

when the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of housing land, as well as 

the other benefits discussed above, it is your officer’s view that the adverse impacts of granting 

planning permission do not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  Consequently, it is 

recommended that outline planning permission be granted, subject to the conditions set out below 

and a Section 106 to secure the affordable housing provision, green space and financial contributions. 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to a Section 106 agreement to secure the affordable housing, green space and 
financial contributions; and the following conditions: 
 
1         Approval of the details of: 
   
 (a) Layout; 
 (b) Scale; 
 (c) Appearance; and 
 (d) Landscaping  
  

Page 33



 (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority 
in writing before any development is commenced. 

  
 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Part 2 (4) of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010. 
 
 2         (i) Application for the approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority before the expiration of two years from the date of this permission. 
                       
           (ii) The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of two years 

from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of approval 
of the last reserved matters to be approved whichever is the later.   

            
           Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended). 
 
 3         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule.   
            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
4 The site access and visibility splays shall be constructed, laid out and maintained for that 

purpose in accordance with the approved plans where the visibility splays provide intervisibility 
between any points on the X and Y axes at a height of 1.05 metres above the adjacent 
carriageway level and the distance back from the nearer edge of the carriageway of the public 
highway (identified as X) shall be 2.4 metres and the visibility distances along the nearer edge 
of the carriageway of the public highway ( identified as Y ) shall be at least 43 metres in both 
directions. 

 
REASON: To provide a satisfactory access to the site and to provide adequate visibility from 
and of emerging vehicles. 
 

5 Any proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, 
sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, road maintenance/vehicle 
overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture 
shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local 
Planning Authority in writing before their construction begins, For this purpose, plans and 
sections indicating, as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method 
of construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON: To ensure that adequate information is available for the proper consideration of the 
detailed proposals. 

 
6 Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on 

to any County Highway. 
 

REASON: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway. 
 

7 The occupation of any dwelling in an agreed phase of the development shall not take  place 
until the following works have been carried out to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority: 

 
A) The spine road and cul-de-sac carriageway including the vehicle turning head within that 
phase shall have been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to and including base 
course level, the ironwork set to base course level and the sewers, manholes and service 
crossings completed; 

 

Page 34



B) The spine road and cul-de-sac footways and footpaths which provide that dwelling with 
direct pedestrian routes to an existing highway maintainable at public expense have been 
constructed up to and including base course level; 

 
C) The cul-de-sac visibility splays have been laid out to their final level; 

 
D) The street lighting for the spine road and cul-de-sac and footpaths has been erected and is 
operational; 
 
E) The car parking and any other vehicular access facility required for the dwelling by this 
permission has/have been completed; 
 
F) The verge and service margin and vehicle crossing on the road frontage of the dwelling 
have been completed with the highway boundary properly defined; 

 
G) The street nameplates for the spine road and cul-de-sac have been provided and erected. 
 
REASON: To ensure that adequate access and associated facilities are available for the traffic 
attracted to the site. 
 

8 No part of the development hereby approved shall be commenced until: 
 

A) The access road has been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to base course 
level for the first 10 metres back from its junction with the public highway 

 
B) The ironwork has been set to base course level and the visibility splays required by this 
permission laid out 
 
C) The footway on the public highway frontage required by this permission has been 
constructed up to base course level 
 
D) A site compound and car park have been constructed to the written satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority 
 
REASON: To ensure that adequate on site facilities are available for all traffic attracted to the 
site during the construction period, in the interest of the safety of all users of the adjoining 
public highway and to protect the amenities of the adjoining residents. 
 

9 No development shall take place until the developer has secured the implementation of a 
programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI) 
which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out at all times in accordance with the approved scheme, or such 
other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local 
Plan 2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), that 
an appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the 
development. 

 
10 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations set out in the Ecological Appraisal prepared by Quantock Ecology dated 27 
April 2020. 

            
           Reason:  In the interests of the biodiversity value of the site. 
 
11 The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in accordance with an Ecological 

Mitigation and Enhancement Plan, that shall have been submitted to and approved by the 
local planning authority prior to the commencement of development. 

Page 35



 
 Reason:  In the interests of the protection and enhancement of the biodiversity value of the 

site. 
 
12 Prior to or as part of the Reserved Matters, the following information shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
 
(a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk Assessment 
(b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt run-off from the site 
during construction of the development hereby permitted. 
(c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water drainage 
system. 
(d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 
(e) Evidence that there is agreement in principle from South West Water or alternative 
appropriate organisation for adoption 

 
No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been approved and 
implemented in accordance with the details under (a) - (e) above. 

 
 Reason: The above conditions are required to ensure the proposed surface water drainage 

system will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, 
adjacent land or downstream in line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national 
policies, including NPPF and PPG. 
 

13 As part of any Reserved Matters application, the proposed housing mix relating to that part of 
the site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved mix unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason:  To ensure that the housing mix across the whole of the development meets the 
identified need in the area. 

 
14 Prior to the occupation of any dwelling hereby permitted, the resurfacing works and any other 

works to public rights of way known as Footpath 7 and / or Footpath 10 shall be undertaken 
and completed, in accordance with details that shall first have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
 Reason: To ensure the adequate safeguarding of the public rights of way known as Footpaths 

7 and 10. 
 
15 Prior to the commencement of development, including any site clearance, groundworks or 

construction within each sub-phase (save such preliminary or minor works that the Local 
Planning Authority may agree in writing), a Construction Management Plan (CMP) to manage 
the impacts of construction during the life of the works, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, the CMP shall include: 
 
a) measures to regulate the routing of construction traffic; 
b) the times within which traffic can enter and leave the site; 
c) the importation of spoil and soil on site; 
d) the removal /disposal of materials from site, including soil and vegetation; 
e) the location and covering of stockpiles; 
f) details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site and must include wheel-
washing facilities 
g) control of fugitive dust from demolition, earthworks and construction activities; dust 
suppression 
h) impact assessments and associated mitigation measures in relation to noise, vibration, dust 
and lighting. (Assessments must be carried out by suitably qualified persons and the plan 
should demonstrate the adoption and use of best practice to reduce impacts)  

Page 36



i) details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility buildings 
j) specified parking arrangements for vehicles associated with the construction works and the 
provision made for access thereto; 
k) a point of contact (such as a Construction Liaison Officer/site manager) and details of how 
complaints will be addressed 

 
The details so approved and any subsequent amendments as shall be agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority shall be complied with in full and monitored by the applicants to 
ensure continuing compliance during the construction of the development. 

 
16 Construction works (including deliveries of construction materials) shall not take place other 

than between 0700hrs and 1900hrs on Mondays to Fridays, Saturdays between 0800hrs and 
1300hrs and at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 
            
 Reason: To protect the amenities of neighbouring properties. 

 
17 Should any contamination of soil or groundwater be discovered during development of the 

site, the Local Planning Authority should be contacted immediately. Site activities within that 
phase or sub-phase or part thereof, should be temporarily suspended until such time as a 
procedure for addressing such contamination, within that phase or sub-phase or part thereof, 
is agreed upon with the Local Planning Authority or other regulating bodies. 

 
 Reason:  To ensure that the risks to human health from contaminants are appropriately 

managed. 
 
18 As part of any reserved matters submission, a Waste Audit Statement shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in conjunction with the Waste 
Planning Authority, to demonstrate how the demolition, construction and operational phases of 
the development will minimise the generation of waste and provide for the management of 
waste in accordance with the waste hierarchy.  The development shall thereafter be 
undertaken in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of sustainability. 

 
19 All existing trees and hedgerows shown on the approved Tree Constraints Plans by Green 

Ecology shall be protected prior to and during the construction of the development hereby 
approved in accordance with BS5837:2012. 

 
Reason:  To ensure that the retained trees and hedgerows are adequately protected, in the 
interests of the character of the site and to minimise visual impact of the development, in 
accordance with Policy DM08A of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031. 

 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

2592-DR-A-050-001A  17.07.2020 
         

2592-DR-A-050-005  17.07.2020 
   

0578/TCP 1 of 2  17.07.2020 
   

0578/TCP 2 of 2  17.07.2020 
  

  

Statement of Engagement 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 38) requires local planning authorities to work 
positively and proactively with applicants to achieve sustainable development. Throughout the 
application process guidance has been given to the applicants and all outstanding issues have been 
identified. 

Page 37



   
In this instance the Council required additional information following the consultation process. The 
need for additional information was addressed with the applicant and submitted for further 
consideration.  
   
The Council has therefore demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
           

 
 
 

Page 38



 
Committee Report –  

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0126/2021/FUL 
 

Registration date: 9 February 2021 

Expiry date:  6 April 2021 

Applicant:  Mr & Mrs John Ford  

Agent:  Sherry Consultants 

Case Officer:  Tracey Blackmore 

Site Address:  Land and Buildings Diddywell Road,  
Appledore,  
Devon, 
 
 

Proposal:  Demolition of existing storage building and 
replace with the erection of 2-bed single storey 
dwelling and retention of existing workshop 
(unaltered) (Amended Description) 

Recommendation: Refuse 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6b



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
Councillor Ford has called the application to Plans Committee if the officer is minded to recommend 
refusal. Councillor Fords notes that it would be of a social benefit given the addition of a dwelling to 
the housing stock and is a small development with minimal wider landscape or environmental 
impacts. 
 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
     

1/0538/2015/OUT 2 bedroom single storey 
live/work dwelling 

REF 29.07.2015 

   

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description: 
 
The application site is located within the countryside and comprises of a parcel of land on the edge of 
the hamlet known as Diddywell, which lies between Appledore and Westward Ho! 
 
The site has historically been used for agricultural purposes, however, is currently used akin to a  
domestic ‘garden’ area. 
 
The site comprises of a relatively flat grassed area which contains two outbuildings (one being used 
for storage and the other as an engraving/stained-glass workshop) and a gated access has been 
established from the adjacent Whitehouse Lane, which forms the southern boundary of the site.   
 
The site is bounded by well-established hedgerows.  The site is adjacent to agricultural land to the 
north, bounded by Diddywell Road to the east and Whitehouse Lane to the south and an agricultural 
building and yard to the west.  
 
The site is situated within the Coast and Estuary Zone.  The site is within the North Devon Biosphere 
Reserve.  The site lies within the Site Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) impact Risk Zone for Northam 
Burrows and Braunton Burrows SSSI.  Northam Burrows Country Park is situated 500 metre to the 
west of the site.  
 
Proposed Development:  
 
This application is seeking full planning permission for the demolition of the storage building and the 
erection of a dwelling, to be located adjacent to the existing workshop building.  
 
The submitted plans indicate the proposed dwelling is to be single storey with a ridge height of 
approximately 3.82 metres that would accommodate a footprint of approximately 11.90 metres x 5.50 
metres, with 2 bedrooms, (one en-suite) an open planned kitchen/dinning/lounge area and a WC and 
storage room.  The finished materials of the dwelling will be Cedral fibre cement cladding, wood grain 
beneath a low pitched Metrotile ‘Woodshake’ roof tile.  
 
The existing vehicle entrance, on-site parking and turning area is to be utilised. 
 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Northam Parish/Town Council:  

Page 40



It was resolved to recommend to Torridge District Council that this application be approved, in line 
with National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 79a, providing homes for rural workers, noting 
that whilst the proposal demolished an existing workshop building, the proposed replacement was in 
keeping with the local design vernacular. 
 
Conservation Officer:  
No observations.  
 
Natural England: 
No comments to make on this application.  
 
Planning Policy Officer: 
 
Consultation Response 
 
The following should be taken as a formal planning policy consultation response to the proposal 
detailed above. The response focusses on the key principles of the proposal and does not cover 
detailed considerations or all material considerations that may be relevant in determining the planning 
application. 
 
Introduction 
 
The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (PCPA) at s38(6) requires that if regard is to be 
had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning 
Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 
 
The principal component of the development plan of relevance in this instance is the North Devon and 
Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted 29th October 2018) (NDTLP). Whilst the development plan 
can also comprise of a relevant neighbourhood development plan (or ‘neighbourhood plan’), there is 
no ‘made’ neighbourhood plan, nor any current neighbourhood planning activity that is of relevance to 
the site subject to the planning application. 
 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 
 
The NDTLP seeks to guide development to achieve sustainable solutions and in the context of the 
planning system, the plan taken as a whole, constitutes what the Council considers to be sustainable 
development in practice for the area (NDTLP para. 3.4).  
 
The application site lies in the Open Countryside, where clause (4) of Policy ST07: Spatial 
Development Strategy for Northern Devon’s Rural Area, establishes that development will be limited 
to that which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs, rural building reuse and 
development that is necessarily restricted to a Countryside location.  Based on these qualifications 
the proposal would not be enabled, the application would result in a new dwelling in a location not 
supported by the NDTLP. 
 
The supporting statement provided with the planning application indicates that the development site is 
brownfield and a “self-build”, these factors are not however considerations that would alter the 
acceptability of enable development established by Policy ST07. 
 
In addition to being in a Countryside location, the application site falls within the Coastal and 
Estuarine Zone; Policy ST09: Coast and Estuary Strategy is therefore relevant. Policy ST09 seeks to 
guide development towards appropriate locations within the coastal and estuary areas of northern 
Devon whilst at the same time ensuring that their positive characteristics and features are suitably 
protected.  
 
The Coastal and Estuarine Zone is formed by the Undeveloped and the Developed Coast, which are 
defined in the NDTLP on the following basis. 

Page 41



 
The Developed Coast is defined as: areas within the Coast and Estuarine Zone with a predominantly 
developed character, which are the areas within development boundaries, as identified on the policies 
map; the principal built form and sites allocated for development in defined settlements without 
development boundaries; Rural Settlements; Defence Estate sites; and large previously developed 
sites or those parts of sites with a substantial level of permanent structures such as sewage treatment 
works and the developed part of static caravan sites. 
 
The Undeveloped Coast is defined as: the area within the Coast and Estuarine Zone that is outside 
the Developed Coast. 
 
Based on the above the application site is considered to be located within the Undeveloped Coast 
from which the following policy requirements need to be met.  
 
Policy provision ST09 (7) provides that “Development within the Undeveloped Coast and estuary will 
be supported where it does not detect from the unspoilt character, appearance and tranquillity of the 
area, nor the undeveloped character of the Heritage Coast, and it is required because, it cannot 
reasonably be located outside the Undeveloped Coast and estuary.   
 
Consideration of the impact of the proposal with regard to the first component of ST09 (7) is 
addressed elsewhere within this report. With regard to the justification of location, this is not 
considered to be established, with particular regard to the nearby opportunities for housing to be 
provided within sustainable settlements where growth is enabled and planned for through Policy 
ST06: Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon’s Sub-regional, Strategic and Main Centres. 
 
Policy ST21: Managing the Delivery of Housing, is relevant having regard to the Burwood Appeal 
(referenced below) when it was determined that provision (2) was triggered, which would enable 
support to be provided to proposals for additional residential development outside of defined 
settlements subject to the following qualifications. 
 
(a) in a location and of a scale and nature commensurate to the deficit in required housing; 
(b) able to demonstrate the ability to contribute in a timely manner to addressing the deficit in 

housing supply; 
(c) broadly consistent with, not prejudicial to and contributing towards the positive achievement of 

the plan’s overall spatial vision and strategy for northern Devon, along with the relevant 
settlement vision and development strategy; and  

(d) in all other respects in accordance with Local Plan Policies, in so far as they apply. 
 
In considering the above requirements it is recognised that although modest the development could 
make a contribution to the five-year housing land supply deficit given that the proposal is made as a 
full application. Criteria (c) could not however be considered to be met having regard to the sites 
Countryside location, which would be contrary to the aims of the NDTLP spatial development 
strategy, which limits enabled development in such locations, guiding development towards defined 
settlements. Additionally, in respect of criteria (d), this is not met having regard to Policy ST09, which 
sets further development limitations within the Undeveloped Coast, within which the application site is 
located.  
 
National Planning Policy  
 
National planning policy forms a material consideration in the determination of planning applications. 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (MHCLG; February 2019) sets out the 
Government’s planning policies for England and how these should be applied (Paragraph 1), citing 
itself that it forms a material consideration in planning decisions (Paragraph 2). 
 
The NPPF provides for a presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 11) which for 
decision-taking means: where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which 
are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless: 
 

Page 42



i. the application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance 
provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 
 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this framework when taken as a whole. 
 
Of importance in respect of the above is the current absence of a five-year housing land supply, as 
established through the Burwood Appeal (APP/W1145/W/19/3238460), which concluded that there is 
a supply of 4.23 years across northern Devon. By virtue of not being able to demonstrate a five-year 
supply of deliverable housing sites (footnote 7, NPPF), there is a need to apply the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development (the 'Presumption') (paragraph 11(d), NPPF) as a material 
consideration in determining planning applications for housing. 
 
Policy overview 
 
The application site is in a Countryside location, within which only limited forms of development are 
enabled, as provided for by Policy ST07 (4), the scope of enabled development would not include the 
proposed development. It is however recognised that in the absence of a five-year housing land 
supply the local planning authority must consider opportunities that would add to its supply of housing 
in sustainable locations. Although close to sustainable settlements, the application site, in respect of 
the policy provisions of the NDTLP is not considered to be in a sustainable location. In addition to the 
limitations of development in a Countryside location, the application site is further restricted by its 
location within the Undeveloped Coast, which includes limitations on development that could not 
otherwise be located, having regard to opportunities for development in nearby sustainable 
settlements, this qualification does not appear to be met. Further, in considering the opportunities for 
additional land release provided by Policy ST21, its enabling requirements in respect of appropriate 
sites are not considered to be met having regard to the need for such to be consistent with the plans 
overall spatial vision and strategy and in accordance with other applicable local plan policies. 
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team comments are outlined below. 
 
Residential Amenity 
The application site adjoins an agricultural building to the west. Although the neighbouring building is 
consented with a condition preventing livestock accommodation, the building and external area is 
used to feed and tend sheep. The Environmental Protection Team has received historic complaints in 
relation to the noise and odour as a result of sheep accumulating on the neighbouring site subject of 
this application. Subsequently, the Environmental Protection Team has concerns that the residential 
amenity of the proposed dwelling will be adversely affected from the agricultural practices of the 
neighbouring site, particularly as the closest building for conversion will be the proposed dwelling. 
 
The application site is in close proximity to existing dwellings such that detriment to their residential 
amenity may arise from the associated construction works if planning consent is granted. In order to 
protect residential amenity, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition of a 
condition restricting construction works and delivery times to 0700 to 1900 hours Monday to Friday 
and 0800 to 1300 hours on Saturdays only with no works on Sundays and Bank Holidays should 
planning consent be granted. 
 
Land Quality 
There appears to be no detailed information on the historic use and subsequent land quality of the 
application site. Agricultural use has the potential to result in ground contamination that may be 
harmful to human health or unsuitable for occupation without remediation. Given the sensitive end 
use, it is essential that the application site is appropriately assessed for any potential contamination. 
Should planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition 
of the Authority's full standard contaminated land condition.  
 

Representations: 

Page 43



 
Number of neighbours consulted:  7  Number of letters of support:  6 
Number of representations received:  9 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  3  

 
The application has attached 9 letters of representation, 6 made in support and 3 in objection. 
 
The letter of support comments include: 
 

- Allowing this application would not impact detrimentally on the surrounding properties or the 
landscape; 

- The proposal will be beneficial to the locality/environment; 
- The proposal would not be detrimental to the hamlet in fact it would be an asset, making the 

existing building more pleasant to the eye; 
 

The letter of objections that are relevant to planning considerations include: 
 

- The proposed development does not comply with the NPPF or Local Plan; 
- This is an agricultural land in the open countryside within the coastal and estuary zone; 
- The proposal is isolated from other residential dwellings in the hamlet; 
- The development of this site would not enhance or maintain the rural character of the area; 
- There is no proven need for this development to take place within the Coastal Zone; 
- The application is a departure from the Local Plan.  
- Concerns about the proximity of the dwelling to a functioning farm yard; 
- As this is agriculture land this cannot be defined as brownfield;  
- There is no essential need for a full time works to be resident at or near their place of work; 
- This would create sporadic development which could possibly result in further development; 
- The lanes cannot accommodate an increase in traffic this will generate; 

 
 

Policy Context: 

 
 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
 
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development);  ST02 (Mitigating Climate Change); ST03 (Adapting to 
Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); ST07 
(Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST09 (Coast and Estuary Strategy); 
ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); ST21 (Managing the Delivery of Housing); DM01 (Amenity 
Considerations); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM08 
(Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); 
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main planning considerations with this application are: 
 
1. Principle of Development 
2. Visual Impact and Landscape Character 
3. Impact on Amenity 
4. Highways and Parking 
5. Ecology  
 

Page 44



1. Principle of Development 
 
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Act 2004 states that key consideration in the 
determination of a planning application is the development plan.  Applications should be determined 
in accordance with the development plan unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise.  
For the purpose of the development plan the statutory development plan is comprised of the North 
Devon & Torridge Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (adopted 2018) (NDTLP). 
 
The site is located in the countryside within the small hamlet of Diddywell, between Appledore and 
Westward Ho!. The site is not well related to the built form of either of these sustainable settlements.  
 
Paragraph 78 of the NPPF promotes sustainable development in rural areas and steers housing to be 
located where it will demonstrably enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities.   
 
Paragraph 78 of the NPPF limits the development of isolated homes unless one or more of the 
following circumstances apply: 
 

a) ‘There is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority of control of a 
farm business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside; 

b) The development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or would be 
appropriate in enabling development to secure the future of heritage assets; 

c) The development would re-use redundant or discussed building and enhance its immediate 
setting; 

d) The development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential dwelling; or  
e) The design is of exceptional quality, in that it: 

-is truly outstanding of innovative, reflecting the highest standards in architecture, and would 
help to raise standards of design more generally in rural areas; and  
-would significantly enhance its immediate setting and be sensitive to the defining 
characteristics of the local area’  

 
 
None of the above special circumstances would apply to this development. 
 
The NDTLP guides development to the most sustainable location setting out the strategic for Spatial 
Strategy for new housing in Policy ST07 (Spatial Development Strategy for Norther Devon’s Rural 
Area).   
 
The site is located outside of a defined settlement and is in an area classed as ‘countryside’.  Policy 
ST07 (4) clarifies that in the countryside, beyond local centres, villages and rural settlements, 
development will be limited to that which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs, rural 
building reuse and development which is necessarily restricted to a countryside location. 
 
From the information presented within the planning application it does not appear there is an essential 
operational need for a new dwelling in the countryside in accordance with Policy DM28 (Rural Worker 
Accommodation).  The supporting statement makes refence to a live/work unit. It is noted that the 
applicant has a specialist glass engraving/stained-glass workshop on site, however, there is no 
justification for this to be operating from this rural location.  Notwithstanding this, the provision of 
residential accommodation in the countryside would have to meet the same tests that are applied to a 
rural workers dwelling.  The proposal would need to establish there is a ’functional’ or ‘essential’ need 
to live at the applicants place of work.  From the information submitted whilst living on the site may be 
desirable, for the applicant, it is not considered essential to meet the test of Policy DM28 of the 
NDTLP.  
 
The supporting statement provided within the planning application indicates that the development site 
is brownfield and a ‘self-build’ project.  In relation to self-build housing, paragraph 7.19 of the NDTLP 
is clear in that ‘self-building’ schemes must accord with the wider spatial strategy as set out in Policy 
ST07.   
 

Page 45



The proposed open market residential dwelling would not satisfy any of the criteria set out in Policy 
ST07(4) and Paragraph 79 of the NPPF, with the result that the principle of development is 
considered to be unacceptable in this location.  
 
5 Year Housing Land Supply (5YHLS) 
 
Notwithstanding, as a result of the Burwood Appeal (APP/W1145/W/19/3238460), the Council 
accepts that it cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (5YHLS); 
with the appeal concluding that there is a supply of 4.23 years across Northern Devon. By virtue of 
not being able to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (footnote 7, NPPF), there 
is a need to apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development (the 'Presumption') 
(paragraph 11(d), NPPF) as a material consideration in determining planning applications for housing. 
 
Paragraph 11 (d) notes: 
 
Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, Local Planning Authorities should grant planning 
permission unless: 
 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance (National Parks, AONB, SSSI, Heritage Assets, Habitat Sites) provides a clear 
reason for refusing the development proposed; or 

ii.  any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

 
For the purposes of the Presumption, policies of the development plan are not considered to be 
automatically out-of-date by virtue of not being able to demonstrate a 5YHLS. Whether a policy of the 
development plan is out-of-date is a matter for the decision taker, in light of their substance and 
considering their conformity with the NPPF. As the NDTLP was adopted relatively recently, none of 
the policies are generally considered to be out-of-date for the application of the Presumption. 
 
The Presumption is set out in two parts by Paragraph 11 (d) of the NPPF, however, as this proposal 
does not harm a 'protected area', the decision taker in this case needs to consider the NPPF's 
requirement to grant permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits; the so-called tilted balance (Paragraph 11(d)(i), NPPF). 
 
In addition to the 'tilted balance', some weight can be given to policy ST21 of the NDTLP which 
relates to managing the delivery of housing. In particular, ST21 (2) is relevant, which supports 
development outside of settlement limits (where completions are below 90% of the annual 
requirement). The Burwood Appeal Decision determined that ST21 (2) is currently engaged, which 
requires any proposal to be in a location, of a scale, and nature commensurate with the deficit in 
required housing (a), demonstrate the ability to contribute in a timely manner to addressing the deficit 
in housing supply (b), be broadly consistent with the plans spatial strategy/vision along with the 
relevant settlement vision and development strategy (c), and be compliant with the remaining plan 
where relevant (d). Dealing with each of these points in turn:  
 
(a) The deficit of housing within Northern Devon is clearly substantial as a 5YHLS supply cannot 

be proven. This proposal is minor in scale, however, combined with other development, can 
assist in the contribution towards a 5YHLS. The proposal is considered to accord with (a).  

 
(b)  The application is made in full. The proposal is considered to accord with (b) 
 
 
(c) As discussed earlier, the site is located within the countryside.  The provision of open market 

residential development in this location would be contrary to the aims of the NDTLP’s spatial 
development strategy for northern Devon’s rural area, which seeks to guide such development 
towards established settlements with development boundaries that can offer some or all of the 
services and facilities required to support a residential use.  This principle is established by 

Page 46



Policy ST07 which adopts a hierarchical approach in recognition of the scale of each 
settlement and the availability of the facilities and services that are available therein, noting 
that Local Centres will be the primary focus for development within the rural area, with villages 
also identified to accommodate more modest levels of open market residential development in 
accordance with local spatial strategies.   

 
 In addition to being a countryside location, the application site falls within the Coastal and 

Estuarine Zone; Policy ST09: Coast and Estuary Strategy of the NDTLP is therefore relevant.  
Policy ST09 seeks to guide development towards appropriate locations within the coast and 
estuary areas of northern Devon whist at the same time ensuring their positive characterises 
and features are suitably protected.   

 
 Policy ST09 (7) of the NDTLP states that ‘Development within the Undeveloped Coast and 

estuary will be supported where it does not detract from the unspoilt character, appearance 
and tranquillity of the area, nor the undeveloped character of the Heritage Coast, and it is 
required, because it cannot be reasonably be located outside the Undeveloped Coast and 
estuary.   

 
The applicant wishes to erect a dwelling on this site to continue his specialist glass 
engraving/staining business.  However, this does not amount to the need for development 
within the Undeveloped Coast and estuary.  It is noted there are nearby opportunities for 
housing to be provided within sustainable settlements where growth is enabled and planned 
for thought Policy ST06; Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon’s Sub -regional, 
Strategic and Main Centres of the NDTLP.  

 
Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal is contrary to criterion (c). 

 
(d) The following sections of this report assess the proposal in the context of the other relevant 

NDTLP policies.   
 
Sustainability of the site: 
 
The submitted supporting statement refers to two high court decisions (Braintree District Council -v- 
the Secretary of State and Newark & Sherwood District Council -v- the Secretary of State) in relation 
to the definition of ‘isolated dwellings in the countryside’.   The case officer has sought legal advice on 
this matter previously for other sites in the District and advises the following ‘a dwelling is isolated if it 
is physically separate or remote from a settlement, but whether it is or is no is a matter of fact and 
degree.  Whether a group of dwellings is a settlement is again a matter of fact and judgement. The 
courts have stated that you should not adopt a prescriptive or too strict interpretation of Paragraph 55 
(now Paragraph 79) and should look at the purpose behind the policy. This does not mean that there 
is now clear guidelines as to what is a settlement etc., it leaves it to the judgement of the decision 
maker’.  
 
In terms of the acceptability of the location, this is not considered to be a sustainable location, being 
separated from the main built form of Appledore, Northam and Westward Ho! and significantly 
separated in terms of road and safe pedestrian travel.  There are no footpaths and the road in not lit 
at night.  The application site is in a countryside location, within only limited forms of development are 
enabled as provided by Policy ST07(4).  The proposal has not been accompanied by any reasoned 
justification for permitting ‘new build’ housing development in countryside.  
 
Irrespective of whether there are other existing dwellings in the area, this site is not appropriate within 
the context of the development plan and NPPF relating to the provision of new housing in the 
countryside. Although close to sustainable settlements, the application site, is not considered to be a 
in a sustainable location.  The framework encourages the effective use of land in sustainable location 
to boost the Governments’ supply of housing. However, this site is not considered to be sustainable, 
encouraging the use of the private car, resulting in a negative environmental impact which does not 
accord with Chapter 9 of the framework to promote healthy and safe communities. 
 

Page 47



Planning history  
 
A previous planning application (ref: 1/0538/2015/OUT) for a single storey live/work unit was refused 
and dismissed at appeal (REF:APP/W145W/15/3137495) on the 2nd March 2016. (This appeal 
decision has been appended to this report). The Planning Inspectorate concludes that the proposal 
would not amount to a sustainable form of development and would conflict with local and national plan 
policy.  There have been no material changes in the circumstances relating to this site since this 
previous appeal decision. 
 
2.  Visual Impact and Landscape Character 
 
Policies ST04 and DM04 of the NDTLP all have a strong design focus and establish the need for 
development to be appropriate in, and have respect for, its context and setting 
 
Policies ST09 and DM08A relate to design and landscape and indicate that with sites situated within 
the Undeveloped Coast, great weight should be given to conserving the landscape and scenic beauty 
of the area. 
 
Policy ST09 (7) states that development within the Undeveloped Coast and estuary will be supported 
where it does not detract from the unspoilt character, appearance and tranquillity of the area, nor the 
undeveloped character of the Heritage Coast, and it is required because, it cannot reasonable be 
located outside the Undeveloped Coast and estuary. 
 
The submitted planning statement considers the proposal as a ‘rounding off’ of the hamlet. Your 
Officers would question this statement.  This site is on the northern side of Whitehouse Lane, the 
existing dwellings in Diddywell are all located to the south of the lane, this proposal would therefore 
constitute a deviation from the existing built form.  As such, it is your Officers’ view that the proposal 
cannot be considered as a ‘rounding off’ of the hamlet.  Permitting a dwelling in this location would 
involve a clear departure from the existing built form of the hamlet.  
 
Clearly, the residential development of this site would change the character of the site to a significant 
degree, having ‘an urbanising effect’ on this rural setting.  However, it is agreed that the single storey 
dwelling would not be visible from any distant views, including the Northern Burrows Country Park. 
Likewise, from views within the hamlet itself, the proposal being single storey would be partially 
screened by the existing hedgerows and the topography of this site.  
 
It has been noted previously in this report that the applicant has advised he wishes to live on this site 
to continue his specialist glass engraving/staining business.  However, this does not amount to the 
need for development within the Undeveloped Coast and estuary.  The development of this site to a 
residential use (including domestic parahelia) would detract from the unspoilt character, appearance 
and tranquillity of the area.  
   
Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal would introduce a new dwelling to the 
north of this hamlet, which would be at odds with the existing built form and in the absence of a 
justifiable functional requirement for the erection of a dwelling, the proposal is considered to detract 
from the unspoilt character, appearance and tranquillity of the area.  The proposal would conflict with 
Policies ST04, DM04 and ST09 (7)  
 
3. Impact on Amenity 
 
One of the core principles of the NPPF is to secure high-quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. 
 
Policy DM01 of the NDTLP relates to amenity considerations and notes, development will be 
supported where: 
 
a) It would not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses; and 

Page 48



b) The intended occupants of the proposed development would not be harmed as a result of existing 
or allocated uses.  
 
DM04 i) states that development must ‘ensure the amenities of existing and future neighbouring 
occupiers are safeguarded’. 
 
In terms of Part a) the nearest residential properties to the application site are approximately 20 
metres to the south (wall to wall from dwelling).  The proposal includes the retention of the existing 
hedgerow boundary to the south elevation which provide sufficient screening between these 
properties.  The scale, design and orientation of the proposed dwelling is such that there would be no 
significant adverse impact on the amenities of occupiers of the nearby dwellings in terms of 
overlooking, loss of privacy, dominance, overshadowing and loss of daylight or sunlight.  In this 
respect there are no immediate neighbouring dwellings which would be directly affected by the sitting 
of a dwelling, and there is no conflict in terms of Policy DM01 a) of the NDTLP. 
 
In terms of part b) of DM01 and DM04 i) there are neighbouring land used which could harm the 
amenities of the future occupiers of the dwelling.  
 
The Environmental Protection Team have confirmed in their consultation that there are concerns 
relating to a neighbouring agricultural use bounding the site.   
 
The Environmental Protection team have commented as follows: 
 
‘The application site adjoins an agricultural building to the west. Although the neighbouring building is 
consented with a condition preventing livestock accommodation, the building and external area is 
used to feed and tend sheep. The Environmental Protection Team has received historic complaints in 
relation to the noise and odour as a result of sheep accumulating on the neighbouring site subject of 
this application. Subsequently, the Environmental Protection Team has concerns that the residential 
amenity of the proposed dwelling will be adversely affected from the agricultural practices of the 
neighbouring site, particularly taking into consideration the close proximity of the proposed dwelling’. 
 
The agricultural building and yard area to the west of the site is located on third party land.  The 
agricultural building is approximately 10 metres, and the yard area is approximately 6 metres from the 
proposed dwelling.  The Environmental Protection team has confirmed they receive frequent 
complaints about odour from the sheep manure due to the regular accumulation of sheep at the 
neighbouring building where they are fed.  It is noted there is a condition stipulating that the building is 
not to be used for livestock accommodation, which to best of your officers’ knowledge is complied 
with.  However, this application is seeking to introduce a residential dwelling closer to an agricultural 
building and yard area in active use which could present problems in terms of noise, odour and fly 
nuisance where sheep are continually fed in that location.  
 
Residential uses will not normally be permitted where there is a demonstrable impact to amenity, and 
no mitigation can be provided.  No mitigations measures can be applied here as the applicants do not 
own the agricultural yard in question. The yard area is in active use, with sheep being fed and 
accumulating in this location and potentially causing an impact on the residential amenity of the 
occupiers of the proposed dwelling.  Therefore, in line with the Environmental Health concerns, by 
virtue of the close proximity of the proposed dwelling to this agricultural use, the effect from noise, 
odour and fly nuisance to occupiers of the dwelling will be contrary to Policy DM01 b) and DM04 i). 
 
4. Highways and Parking 
 
Policy DM05 of the NDTLP requires development to have safe and well designed vehicular access 
and egress, adequate parking and layouts which consider the needs and accessibility of all highway 
users including cyclists and pedestrians and all development shall protect and enhance existing public 
rights of way, footways, cycleways and bridleways and facilitate improvements to existing or provide 
new connection to these routes where practical to do so.  Policy DM06 states that proposal will be 
expected to provide an appropriate scale and range of parking provision to meet anticipated needs. 
 

Page 49



Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused on 
highway grounds if there would be unacceptable impact on highway safety, or where the residual 
cumulative impact of development are severe.  
 
The Highway Authority has been consulted and referred to standing advice procedure. 
 
It is noted that within the previous application (Ref: 1/0538/2015/OUT) the Highway Authority advised 
that the proposal is acceptable on the basis that visibility splays of 25 metres to the centre of single-
track road is provided from 2.4 metre behind the road edge.  The previous recommendation included 
conditions to ensure that adequate visibility splays are provided and that the proposed internal access 
track is appropriately drained and surfaced and that measures are taken to prevent surface water 
draining onto the highway.  
 
Taking account of the above, and subject to the above conditions, the proposal is not considered to 
be in conflict with policies DM05, DM06 and Para 109 of the NPPF. 
 
5. Ecology 
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further 
reinforced by Policies ST14 and DM08 of the NDTLP. 
 
There are five statutory designated sites within the potential zone of influence of the application site.  
The closest of these is Northam Burrow SSSI, which is located 0.5 km west of the application site.  
Natural England have no comments to make on this application. 
 
The application is accompanied by an Ecological Appraisal Report dated October 2020.  
 
The Report concludes the proposal will involve minimal habitat removal in the form of a small area of 
tall ruderal and amenity grassland.  
 
The Report concludes that the site does not contain any Habitats of Principal Importance.  Habitats on 
site were species poor and highly managed due to its nature as a garden.  
 
Badgers – No evidence of badgers were observed however it is considered badgers are active in the 
local area and therefore could be foraging within the site.  It Is recommended that protection measure 
for badgers during ground remediation works and development activities are implemented.  
 
Bats – The shed and workshops were surveyed internally and externally in August 2020.  No bats or 
signs of bats were found within the buildings during the Bat Scoping Survey.  The shed which is 
proposed to be demolished was deemed to have negligible potential for roosting barns, therefore the 
demolition of this building can go ahead without any further input and without any danger of harming 
bats.  
 
Breeding birds – It is recommended that if suitable nesting habitat is to be cleared, such works be 
undertaken outside of the breeding bird season (considered to be March – August). In doing so, this 
would avoid the risk of committing an offence, and ensure that no breeding birds were harmed by the 
proposed work. 
If vegetation clearance is required during the breeding season there is a potential risk that breeding 
birds could be affected. To ensure legal compliance, a check survey should be undertaken by a 
suitably experienced ecologist to confirm the presence/absence of nest sites. This survey would 
identify where vegetation could be cleared without risking disturbance to nesting birds or 
damage/harm to nests and young. If nests sites were identified at locations where clearance was 
required or within 5-10 m of such areas, no clearance would be possible until such time that the nest 
site became inactive (species specific but approximately 4-6 weeks maximum). The findings of a 

Page 50



check survey which confirms absence would be deemed to be valid for a period of 48 hours only, so 
any such check should be undertaken immediately prior to vegetation removal works. 
 
Reptiles - The site has potential to be used by widespread reptile species and had connectivity to 
other suitable habitats off-site. The habitat deemed suitable for these species was the areas of 
grassland. A very small portion of this habitat will be affected by the proposed works which could 
result in the incidental mortality of individuals if present. 
Prior to construction, the amenity grassland should be cleared using a directional, phased approach. 
During the first stage vegetation should be cut to a height of 150 mm using hand tools, with arisings 
removed. The second stage (at least 24 hours after the first cut, thereby allowing time for reptiles to 
disperse) should involve vegetation being cut to ground level, and arisings removed. These cuts 
should be directional, working towards adjacent retained habitat to the north of the application site. 
 
Biodiversity net gain could be delivered via a suitably worded condition.  
 
Taking account of the above, and subject to the above mitigation measures being conditioned, it is 
considered that the proposal accords with Polices DM08 and ST14 of the NDTLP. 
 
7. Tilted Balance and Conclusion 
 
As discussed earlier, the site is located within the countryside, outside of any defined development 
boundary.  The principle of residential development in this location would ordinarily be unacceptable.  
However, as discussed earlier it is necessary to undertake a ‘tilted balance’ assessment as the Local 
Planning Authority cannot currently demonstrate a 5YHLS. 
 
The development plan policies referred to above are in broad conformity with the NPPF and therefore 
are not considered to be out of date. In particular, the overarching policy direction of the NDTLP to 
guide open market residential development towards settlements that offer a broad range of the 
services and facilities required to support a residential use is also evident in the NPPF and is a key 
strand of environmental sustainability. 
 
In respect of the overall balancing exercise, whilst the positive aspects of the proposal are noted, it is 
considered that the site’s location remote from facilities and services, and the consequent need to 
access such facilities and services by private motor vehicle, is prejudicial to one of the central aims of 
the NDTLP; to guide open market residential development towards sustainable locations that offer a 
range of services and facilities to meet the needs of the future occupiers of the development.  
Following on from this, the proposal is also considered to conflict with environmental sustainability 
aims, which are a key pillar of the NPPF.    
 
In addition to being in a countryside location, the site is located within the Coastal and Estuarine 
Zone, where no evidence has been presented as to why this development cannot reasonable be 
located outside the Undeveloped Coast and estuary in line with Policy ST09 (7). 
 
There has also been concern raised of an unacceptable adverse impact on the amenities of future 
occupiers of the proposed dwelling, from an established third-party agricultural use, adjacent to this 
site.  
 
On this basis, it is considered that the adverse impacts of granting planning permission would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
 

Recommendation 

 

Page 51



REFUSE for the following reasons: 
 
 
 1     Policy ST07 (4) of the North Devon & Torridge Local Plan does not support development 

proposals for open market housing in the open countryside, where the Local Planning 
Authority would only permit development which is necessary to meet local economic and 
social needs, rural building re-use and development which is necessarily restricted to a 
countryside location. No justification has been presented to prove a functional need for the 
dwelling in the countryside.  The economic and social contribution of one single dwelling to the 
Councils 5 Year Housing Supply is not sufficient to outweigh the harm to the countryside and 
the Coastal and Estuarine Zone. In this circumstance the proposal is contrary to Policies 
ST07, ST09 and ST14 of the North Devon & Torridge Local Plan and Paragraph 79 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 2     The site lies with the designated Coast and Estuary Zone.  In the absence of a justifiable 

functional requirement for the dwelling, the associated domestic paraphernalia is considered 
to detract from the unspoilt character, appearance, and tranquillity of the area contrary to the 
provisions of Policy ST09 (7) and DM08A of the North Devon & Torridge Local Plan. 

 
 
3 The proximity of the site to an existing agricultural building and yard area (in active use) will 

cause an unacceptable adverse impact on the amenities of future occupiers of the proposed 
dwelling, which cannot be mitigated, contrary to policies DM01 and DM04 of the North Devon 
and Torridge Local Plan and Paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

S20/24/01  05.02.2021 
   

S20/24/02  05.02.2021 
       

S20/24/05A  09.02.2021 
   

S20/24/06A  09.02.2021 
  

 
  

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following and positive and proactive 
manner. We have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the 
Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal written 
guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant 
has been given every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably.  
In such ways the Council has demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solution to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
            
In this instance the applicant did not enter into pre-application discussions with the Council. No 
discussions were necessary with the applicant during the processing of the application as the Council 
had taken a decision which set out its assessment on a previous planning application which the 
applicant was aware of when submitting this application. 
 

Page 52



 
Committee Report  

 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

  

Application Number: 1/0274/2021/OUT 

Registration date: 8 March 2021 

Expiry date:  3 May 2021 

Applicant:  Mr B Oke  

Agent:  R A Rowe & Co. Ltd. 

Case Officer:  Debbie Fuller 

Site Address:  Land at Holemoor,  
Bradford,  
Holsworthy, 
Devon, 
EX22 7AB,   

Proposal:  Outline application with all matters reserved for 
1no. local needs dwelling 

Recommendation: Refuse 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 6c



 

Reason for referral: 

 
Cllr James has called the application to Plans Committee if the Officer is minded to recommend refusal, 
for the following reasons: 
 
It complies with policy 
Provides a home for local young family 
It is a suitable site 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. 
Adjacent site (east) 
1/0791/1975 
 
Site opposite 
(south) 
1/0231/2005/AGR 
 
 
Site to south west 
1/0230/2005/OUT 

Description 
HORSE SHELTER O.S.651, 
HOLEMOOR BRADFORD 
 
Erection of partridge rearing 
shed, construction and 
location as per enclosed 
plan 
 
Erection of agricultural 
workers dwelling 

Status 
Approved 
 
 
Permitted 
Development 
 
 
 
Refused 

Closed 
11.08.1975 
 
 
28.06.2006 
 
 
 
 
26.09.2005 

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description 
The site is an agricultural field within the parish of Bradford & Cookbury. The land is to the south east 
of the hamlet of Bradford (Holemoor), and measures one hectare in total. The proposed location of the 
dwelling is to the south eastern corner of this parcel of land, (0.1 hectares), although the whole parcel 
of land (one hectare), is under the ownership of the applicant.  
 
The application site is outside of any special landscape designations. There is currently no vehicular 
access on this side of the field. The site is adjacent to an unclassified road on the southern boundary. 
The rural lane does not benefit from any pavement or lighting provision. 
 
The nearest residential properties, within the hamlet, are located approximately 100 metres to the north. 
Adjacent to the site (east) is a horse shelter, (planning reference 1/0791/1975), and polytunnels, and 
across the road, (south) is a 'partridge rearing shed,' (planning reference 1/0231/2005/AGR), and other 
small agricultural sheds. The nearest residential property is 'Cobweb Cottage,' approximately 50 metres 
to the north west. 
 
The parish of Bradford & Cookbury features a dispersed settlement pattern, with small groupings of 
buildings including Priestacott, Upcott, Brandis Corner, Cookbury and Cookbury Wick. The local centre 
of Shebbear lies approximately three miles away. 
 
Proposed Development 
Outline permission is sought for one Local Needs dwelling with all matters reserved. An indicative plan 
has been submitted with the application indicating the layout of the dwelling located to the southwest of 
the field. Access and parking is indicated from a new access. A new driveway and parking area is shown 
to the south of the dwelling. The majority of existing hedgerow is indicated as being retained, aside from 
that which is to be removed to create the new access and that which is partially repositioned to allow 
sufficient visibility splay. 
 

Consultee representations: 

Page 54



 
Bradford & Cookbury Parish/Town Council:  
The parish council supports this local needs application as it provides for the parishioner and his family 
to live and work in the area they grew up in and helps sustain local schools and the wider community 
in general. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Refer to officer to Standing Advice.  
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team comments are outlined below. 
 
Residential Amenity 
There appears to be agricultural buildings immediately to the east of the application site. Given the 
close proximity, there is the potential for detriment to the residential amenity of the proposed dwelling 
depending on the use of the buildings. It would be useful to receive further information regarding the 
neighbouring buildings in order to assess any potential impact. 
 
Due to the existence of neighbouring dwellings in close proximity, there is the potential for detriment to 
residential amenity from the construction works associated with the proposed development if control 
measures are not in place. Should planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection Team 
recommends a condition restricting construction works and delivery times to 0700 to 1900 hours 
Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1300 hours on Saturdays only with no works permitted on Sundays and 
Bank Holidays in order to protect residential amenity. 
 
Land Quality 
There appears to be no detailed information provided on the historic use and subsequent land quality 
of the application site. Although it is acknowledged that the site is undeveloped, given the sensitive end 
use it is essential that the land is appropriately assessed for any potential ground contamination that 
may be unsuitable for occupation without remediation. Should planning consent be granted, the 
Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition of the Authority's full standard 
contaminated land condition. 
 
Foul Drainage 
The proposed dwelling will be served by a new treatment package plant discharging to a drainage field. 
Unfortunately no percolation test results have been submitted to assess the suitability of the ground for 
the proposed drainage field. The Environmental Protection Team will require the percolation test results 
as well as the calculated drainage field area for further review to ensure the proposed dwelling can be 
served by an adequate and sufficient foul drainage provision in accordance with relevant guidance.  
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  6  Number of letters of support:  8 
Number of representations received:  9 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  1  

 
A site notice was posted at the proposed access to the site, with a 'Departure Site Notice' (departure 
from Local plan policy), also posted alongside. 
 
Eight letters of support and one letter of objection has been received. The following points are raised:- 
 
In support 
- Benefit to locality/environment; 
- Business requirement; 
- Will support a thriving farming business; 
- Need to live close to the farm for welfare of livestock / 24 hour care; 
- Local needs requirement; 

Page 55



- Farming family have lived / works in the Parish for generations; 
- Enable the family / younger people to stay / remain in the community / otherwise cease to be a 
thriving community / will be a disproportionately aged population; 
- Very little affordable housing in the area / for younger people; 
- Will support the local primary school / reduce travel time and carbon emissions transporting children 
to school; 
- The family support local / charity events; 
- The owner of the land opposite the application site has no objections; 
- No visual impact on supporters dwelling/s and/ or countryside (greatly); 
- No objection to agriculturally tied dwelling. 
 
Objection 
- Detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the area / open countryside; 
- There is no pre-existing building on the site / will this open up the land future development? 
- Visual impact as on top of ridge / impact on skyline; 
- Overlooking / lack of privacy / impact on view of open countryside - three windows on rear of 
objectors dwelling. 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST03 (Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening 
Resilience); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); ST07 (Spatial Development Strategy for 
Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST10 (Transport Strategy); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); 
ST21 (Managing the Delivery of Housing); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 (Environmental 
Protection); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM08 
(Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); DM24 (Residential 
Development in Rural Settlements). 
 
Government Guidance: 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities) and WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981).  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main considerations with this application are: 
 
1. The principle of development 
2. Character and appearance  
3. Residential amenity 
4. Highway considerations 
5. Ecology 
6. Drainage 
7. Representations 
8. Planning Balance 
 
1. Principle of Development 
 
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning law (namely 
Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990) requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF 
must be taken into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans and is a material 
consideration in planning decisions. 
 
Within the development plan (the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP)), Policy ST07 details 
the Council's spatial strategy for rural areas. Paragraph (3) of Policy ST07 states:- 

Page 56



 
'In Rural Settlements which contain at least one prescribed service or community facility, appropriately 
located development of a modest scale will be enabled to meet locally generated needs.' 
 
However, the Local Planning Authority considers the application site is located in the open countryside, 
and 'Holemoor' is not considered to be a 'Rural Settlement' as it does not 'contain' at least one 
prescribed service or community facility. The definition of 'Rural Settlement' in the NDTLP, 'Glossary' 
states 'A small, closely grouped cluster of housing that contains at least one identified local service or 
community facility.' The proximity of Bradford Primary School and Village Hall to the site is noted, (700 
metres away from the site). However, this is not considered to be within the nucleus of housing which 
defines 'Holemoor,' (also known as Bradford). In other words, the local service and/or community facility 
is not 'contained' within a 'small, closely grouped cluster of housing,' and in addition these facilities are 
not within safe walking distance. 
 
Despite the relative proximity of these community facilities, as stated above, the site would be 
considered to be within the open countryside, and not within a rural settlement as the site cannot be 
considered to be in a closely grouped cluster of housing that contains at least one identified local service 
or facility. Therefore paragraph (4) of ST07 is applicable, which states:- 
 
'In the Countryside, beyond Local Centres, Villages and Rural Settlements, development will be limited 
to that which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs, rural building reuse and development 
which is necessarily restricted to a Countryside location.'  
 
National Policy contained within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) emphasises that to 
promote sustainable development in rural areas housing should be located within existing settlements 
where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities and isolated new homes within the 
countryside will not normally be permitted.  Paragraph 79 of the NPPF states that planning policies and 
decisions should avoid the development of isolated homes in the countryside unless one or more of a 
number of circumstances apply: 
 
1. there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority control of a farm business, 
to live permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside; 
2. the development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or would be appropriate 
enabling development to secure the future of heritage assets; 
3. the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance its immediate setting; 
4. the development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential dwelling; or 
5. the design is of exceptional quality, in that it: 
- is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest standards in architecture, and would help to 
raise standards of design more generally in rural areas; and 
- would significantly enhance its immediate setting and be sensitive to the defining characteristics of 
the local area. 
 
None of these circumstances apply to this development. The application is not for a 'rural workers 
dwelling.' 
 
Five Year Supply and 'Tilted balance' 
 
Due to the Council's lack of 5 year housing land supply, it is acknowledged that policies relating to the 
principle of housing development have now been superseded by the provisions of paragraph 11 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), which indicates that the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development should apply and that permission should generally be granted unless the 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, therefore 
requiring the application of a 'tilted balance' in decision making. In light of the above, an assessment of 
the relevant policies of the NDTLP in relation to: landscape protection, residential amenity, highway 
safety and ecology together with the material considerations of the NPPF, including the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development should be undertaken.   
 

Page 57



Policy ST21 of the Local Plan notes that in the situation where the Council cannot meet its identified 5 
year housing land supply with completions falling below 90% then proposals for additional residential 
development outside of defined settlement limits will be supported where they are meeting the following 
requirements: - 
 
'(a) in a location and of a scale and nature commensurate to the deficit in required housing; 
(b) able to demonstrate the ability to contribute in a timely manner to addressing the deficit in housing 
supply; 
(c) broadly consistent with, not prejudicial to and contributing towards the positive achievement of the 
plan's overall spatial vision and strategy for northern Devon, along with the relevant settlement vision 
and development strategy; and 
(d) in all other respects in accordance with other Local Plan policies, in so far as they apply'. 
 
The following considers each of these points in turn in relation to the proposed development: - 
 
(a) The deficit of housing within Northern Devon is clearly substantial as a 5YHLS supply cannot 
be proven. This proposal is minor in scale with the proposed addition of one dwelling, however 
combined with other development, can assist in the contribution towards a 5YHLS. However, the 
proposed location has no access to services and facilities to meet day to day needs. The proposal 
would therefore not meet criteria (a). 
 
(b) If the application were made in full it is likely to result in a development which commences in a 
short period of time to assist in addressing the deficit in housing supply. However, it is understood that 
the proposed dwelling is intended to be occupied by members of the applicant's family and is likely to 
be built. The proposal therefore does meet criteria (b). 
 
(c) The proposed site is outside of any settlement boundary and outside of a settlement with at 
least one prescribed service. The spatial strategy allows for a local needs dwelling within Rural 
Settlements, but this is not considered to be a 'Rural Settlement.' The strategy seeks to guide 
development towards established settlements with development boundaries that can offer some or all 
of the services and facilities required to support a residential use. This principle is established by Policy 
ST07 which adopts a hierarchical approach in recognition of the scale of each settlement and the 
availability of the facilities and services that are available therein, noting that Local Centres will be the 
primary focus for development within the rural area, with villages also identified to accommodate more 
modest levels of open market residential development in accordance with local spatial strategies.  
 
The application site is in an area which does not contain any day to day services, which would support 
a residential use. Bradford Primary School and Bradford and Cookbury Village Hall are approximately 
700 metres to the north west. However, these facilities are reliant on the private car and are served by 
a poor highway network comprised of narrow country lanes that provide limited accessibility to services 
and facilities to meet day to day needs. 
 
The assessment above recognises that the proposal is contrary to the spatial strategy, however, Policy 
ST21 recognises that development can be acceptable outside settlement limits in a scenario where a 
lack of housing supply is present. This proposal could assist in supporting local services, however due 
to the limited facilities available within Bradford, and the distance of the application site from day to day 
services, with no alternative but the use of the private car, the proposal is not considered to be compliant 
with the wider principles of the local strategy. 
 
Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal would not meet the requirements of 
criteria (c). 
 
(d) The following sections of this report assess the proposal in the context of the other relevant 
NDTLP policies.  
 
Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal is contrary to Policies ST07 and parts 
(a) and (c) of Policy ST21. The following sections of this report provide an assessment of the other 
material considerations pursuant to the application, followed by the planning balance to weigh the 

Page 58



factors in support of and against the granting of planning permission, which will enable a conclusion to 
be made in relation to The Presumption and the tilted balance, in accordance with paragraph 11(d) of 
the NPPF. 
 
2. Character and appearance  
 
The Local Plan has policies which are relevant - Policy DM04: Design Principles and Policy ST04: 
'Improving the Quality of Development' aims to achieve high quality inclusive and sustainable design. 
 
Policy DM04 seeks to guide overall scale, density, massing, height, landscape, layout, materials access 
and appearance of development. The policy requires development to be appropriate and sympathetic 
to its setting in terms of scale, density, massing, height, layout appearance, fenestration, materials and 
relationship to buildings and landscape features in the local neighbourhood. Policy ST04 states 'design 
will be based on a clear process that analyses and responds to the characteristics of the site, its wider 
context and the surrounding area taking full account of the principles of design found in DM04.' 
 
Local Plan policy DM08A, expects development to be of an appropriate scale, mass and design that 
respects landscape character of both designated and undesignated landscapes. 
 
The site is not directly adjoining built development in the area. Development in this location would 
therefore be read as being remote from the built form of the settlement, and an intrusion into the 
countryside impacting on the rural character of the area.  
 
Notwithstanding the outline nature of the application, the proposed addition of a dwelling on the site 
would result in additional built form being located within the surrounding landscape, to the detriment of 
the character and appearance of the surroundings. On this basis, the proposed development is 
considered to be out of keeping with Policy DM04 of the Local Plan which states as one of its principles 
that development should be sympathetic to landscape features. DM08A of the Local Plan seeks to 
protect the landscape from harm. The proposed development would result in additional built form being 
added to the existing rural landscape. 
 
The proposal is considered to be contrary to Policies DM04, ST04, ST07 & DM08A of the Local Plan. 
 
3. Residential Amenity 
 
Policy DM01 of the Local Plan confirms that development will be supported where it would not harm 
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers or uses or result in harm to the future occupiers of the 
development from existing or allocated uses. Policy DM04: 'Design Principles' aims to ensure the 
amenities of existing and future neighbouring occupiers are safeguarded. 
 
The proposed dwelling would be located a significant distance from the nearest residential properties 
and it is considered that the location of the proposed development is such that there would not be a 
significant adverse impact on the amenities of occupiers of other dwellings in terms of dominance, 
overshadowing, loss of daylight or sunlight. There is no right to a view in planning, and with regards to 
the impact on countryside this in the ‘Character and appearance’ section above. 
 
Policy DM02: 'Environmental Protection,' states 'Development will be supported where it does not result 
in unacceptable impacts,' including smells, fumes, pollution of surface or ground water. 
 
If approved, the Local Authority’s Full Standard Land Contamination condition and an ‘hours of 
construction work and deliveries,’ condition would need to be applied. 
 
The Local Authority's Environmental Protection Team have commented that there are agricultural 
buildings to the east, which have the potential for detriment to residential amenity. They have requested 
further information. At the officer site visit it was evident that this was a horse shelter. The distance is 
approximately ten metres to the proposed dwelling in the indicative layout. However, Environmental 
Protection have confirmed that as the use is not intensive livestock, they have no objections. 
 

Page 59



In light of the above the proposals are considered to accord to Policy DM02 of the Local Plan. 
 
4. Highway Safety 
 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused on highways 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or where the residual cumulative 
impacts of development are severe. 
 
Policy DM05 in the Local Plan requires development to have safe and well designed vehicular access 
and egress, adequate parking and layouts which consider the needs and accessibility of all highway 
users including cyclists and pedestrians, and all development shall protect and enhance existing public 
rights of way, footways, cycleways and bridleways and facilitate improvements to existing or provide 
new connections to these routes where practical to do so. Policy DM06 of the Local Plan states that 
proposals will be expected to provide an appropriate scale and range of parking provision to meet 
anticipated needs. 
 
The application site would be accessed via a new entrance. The submitted indicative site plan proposes 
the provision of a new driveway, turning and parking area, which could accommodate two cars. There 
is no Public Right of Way in the immediate vicinity. 
 
The Local Highway Authority (Devon County Council) has stated that the proposal should be dealt with 
under Standing Advice. The proposal will give rise to an increase in vehicular movements accessing 
and egressing from the site. However, given that adequate visibility appears to be achievable and the 
parking provision is in accordance with Highway Standing Advice, the proposed development is 
considered to be acceptable in accordance with Policies DM05 and DM06.  
 
5. Ecology 
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife is 
fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). Policies ST14 and DM08 of the 
Local Plan require that development ensures the protection and enhancement of biodiversity. 
 
Due to the size of the development the need for a wildlife survey has not been triggered by good practice 
guidance. Whilst a small amount of hedgerow is to be removed to facilitate a new access, this could be 
compensated for, (and a net gain achieved), by planting of new trees/hedgerow, (for example). A 
landscape condition may ensure a net gain through increased native habitat and/or the installation of a 
bird box conditioned to be added to the dwelling. However, in terms of protected species, no further 
survey work is considered to be necessary.  
 
Accordingly, the proposed development is considered to comply with Policies ST14 and DM08 of the 
Local Plan. 
 
6. Drainage 
 
Policy ST03: 'Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience,' requires that development 
adopts effective water management and sustainable drainage systems. In addition, policy DM04 states 
development should provide effective water management including Sustainable Drainage Systems, 
water efficiency measures and the reuse of rainwater. 
 
The application site sits in zone 1, Environment Agency flood zone (low risk).  
 
Both the NPPF and National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) provide further advice on foul 
drainage, with a hierarchal approach being used. The NPPG notes new development should aim to 
discharge foul water into the public sewer; however, if this is not possible then a package treatment 
plant may be used. It proceeds to note if a package treatment plant is not possible to use, then a septic 
tank will be considered. Justification for the use of alternative drainage systems other than mains 

Page 60



drainage is required. In this instance, as the Foul Drainage Assessment Form (FDA) states 'no mains 
drainage within 30m of site.' 
 
The Local Authority's Environmental Protection Team have been consulted and have commented:- 'The 
proposed dwelling will be served by a new treatment package plant discharging to a drainage field. 
Unfortunately no percolation test results have been submitted to assess the suitability of the ground for 
the proposed drainage field. The Environmental Protection Team will require the percolation test results 
as well as the calculated drainage field area for further review to ensure the proposed dwelling can be 
served by an adequate and sufficient foul drainage provision in accordance with relevant guidance.' 
 
NDTLP Policy DM02 sets out that development will be supported where it does not result in 
unacceptable impacts to pollution of surface or ground water including rivers, canals, other 
watercourses, water bodies, wetlands, water gathering grounds including catchment areas, aquifers, 
groundwater protection areas, harbours, estuaries or the sea.  
 
The proposal includes a non-mains foul drainage solution but no percolation test results have been 
provided to indicate that such a system would be viable. Whilst the site is large and a sizeable area 
would remain green and could be set aside as a drainage field, there does not appear to be any 
measurement of how freely draining the soils are and whether the area set aside is sufficient to 
accommodate the requisite drainage field. Whilst a condition may be used in some circumstances to 
require the specific details of such a non-mains solution, the requirement for percolation test results 
that indicate the viability of such a system or otherwise should not be left until after the position of 
buildings and other hard surfacing is fixed. 
 
In view of this main issue, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, the proposal would not make an 
adequate provision for foul drainage and would therefore conflict with NDTLP Policy DM02. 
 
7. Representations 
 
The Parish Council support this application as it provides for the parishioner and his family to live and 
work in the area they grew up in and helps sustain local schools and the wider community in general.' 
There are a number of letters of support from residents raising similar points. 
 
The policy for 'Rural Settlements' is Policy DM24, which, as outlined in the 'Principle' section is not 
relevant to this site. However, if it were a 'Rural Settlement' - in assessing applications for Local Needs 
dwellings, the background text to the policy outlines criteria that would apply:- 
 
(1) at least one adult in the household was resident continuously in the Rural Settlement for a minimum 
of five years immediately prior to occupation; or 
(2) at least one adult of the household was resident in the Rural Settlement for five years within the 
previous ten years immediately prior to occupation; or 
(3) at least one parent, guardian, child or sibling, of at least one adult in the intended household, has 
been resident in the Rural Settlement for a minimum of 5 years immediately prior to occupation; or 
(4) at least one adult in the household has been in continuous employment for at least 16 hours per 
week in the Rural Settlement for at least five years immediately prior to occupation; and in all cases 
(5) at least one adult in the household needs a separate home (defined as those setting up a new 
household as a result of co-habitation, marriage, divorce or separation, or those that have, or are about 
to leave, tied accommodation on retirement) or whose present accommodation is sub-standard or 
unsuitable to their present circumstances because of their age, an impairment, medical condition or to 
meet the needs of a growing family, or there is no suitable accommodation available. 
 
The information submitted ('Planning Statement,'), states that, 'He has lived in the parish his whole life 
and been employed on the family farm (to the north of the site) for the last 9 years. The farm has been 
in his family for four generations.'  
 
It is unclear as to whether 'the Parish' is meant to be the 'Rural Settlement,' but the farm on which the 
applicant works, ('Hole Farm,') (and has worked for the last nine years), is 400 metres from the 
application site. If the settlement were considered to be a 'Rural Settlement,' the applicant would meet 

Page 61



criterion (4), as he 'has been in continuous employment for at least 16 hours per week in the Rural 
Settlement for at least five years immediately prior to occupation.' However, it is unclear as to how the 
proposal meets criterion 5, - whether the household needs a separate home, or if the present 
accommodation is sub-standard or unsuitable to their present circumstances because of their age, an 
impairment, medical condition or that it does not meet the needs of a growing family, or that there is no 
suitable accommodation available, (i.e., at ‘Hole Farm’). 
 
The proposed location to build a property would be much closer to his employment. However, no 
information has been provided with the application to address criterion 5. For clarification, the 
application is not for an agricultural worker dwelling. 
 
8. Planning Balance 
 
The provision of additional dwellings towards meeting the Council's housing needs is welcomed. The 
location is open countryside where new dwellings are not usually supported. However, the Council 
cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites and therefore, as above, paragraph 
11(d) of the NPPF is engaged.  
 
As decision makers, we should be looking to support good quality housing development proposals in 
sustainable locations. And, in terms of whether the site is 'sustainable,' the following assessment has 
been made. 
 
Taking the three columns of sustainable development in turn, the provision of a single dwelling will only 
make a modest contribution to the Housing Land Supply, with associated minor social benefits. 
However, the addition of a dwelling which is more affordable to members of the community is seen as 
positive. Economically, there would again be a modest benefit from jobs generated during construction 
and associated spend from occupiers of the dwelling.  
 
With regard to the environment, the site is not directly adjoining built development in the area and the 
proposal would represent an intrusion into the countryside, impacting on the rural character of the area. 
Also, given the site being some three miles to the main local centre of 'Shebbear,' the limited nearby 
facilities within this dispersed Parish and the narrow nature of the surrounding highway network with 
high hedgerows and no footpath or pedestrian provision, there will be a high reliance on the private car 
for future occupants to access everyday services, community facilities and sources of employment. 
Whilst the availability of a nearby bus service, and the limited trips generated by the occupants of a 
single dwelling limit the impact of the location on sustainability, there would still be demonstrable visual 
harm, and it is considered the likelihood of a reliance on private transport. 
 
The proposal is considered to have a harmful impact on the character and appearance of the area. The 
site is in open countryside and is not within or closely related to a settlement, being approximately 100m 
from the main grouping of buildings at Holemoor with agricultural land intervening. Whether or not the 
site should be considered 'isolated', the development of this site would be read as being remote from 
the built form of the settlement, and an unwelcome intrusion into the countryside impacting on the rural 
character of the area. 
 
The proposed development is therefore considered to be contrary to the provisions of the NPPF with 
its presumption in favour of sustainable development and contrary to Policy ST07 of the Local Plan, 
specifically in relation to the landscape impacts of the development and its location divorced form the 
existing built form of nearby settlements. 
 
8. Conclusion 
 
Paragraph 2 of the NPPF states that planning law (namely Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) requires 
that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is a material consideration in planning 
decisions. 
 

Page 62



As previously discussed, the Local Planning Authority cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply 
of housing land to meet the identified need within the district. It is therefore necessary to consider 
whether the adverse impacts of the proposal would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits. 
 
In this instance, the proposal would provide a contribution of one dwelling towards local housing supply 
on a site that is within the countryside and not adjoining the existing built area of a settlement. 
'Holemoor' is not considered to be a 'Rural Settlement.' 
 
The site is not directly adjoining built development in the area. Development in this location would 
therefore be read as being remote from the built form of the settlement, and an intrusion into the 
countryside impacting on the rural character of the area. Despite the outline nature of the proposed 
development, it is considered to result in a harmful impact on the open nature of the surrounding 
countryside with the addition of further built form. 
 
Taking the three columns of sustainable development in turn, the provision of a single dwelling will only 
make a modest contribution to the Housing Land Supply, with associated minor social benefits, although 
it is recognised that a Local Needs dwelling will help with affordability for a local employee. 
Economically, there would again be a modest benefit from jobs generated during construction and 
associated spend from occupiers of the dwelling. With regard the environment, the site is not directly 
adjoining built development in the area and the proposal would represent an intrusion into the 
countryside, impacting on the rural character of the area. 
 
It is understood that the site is served by a bus service which would provide an option of a more 
sustainable transport mode, however, it is  considered that there would still be a reliance on private 
transport for day to day living. This is due to the site being some three miles to the main local centre of 
‘Shebbear,’ the limited nearby facilities within this dispersed Parish and the narrow nature of the 
surrounding highway network with high hedgerows and no footpath or pedestrian provision, making 
alternative modes of transport unattractive. However, whilst the sustainability of the location may be 
argued, in combination with the identified visual impact it is considered that the adverse impacts 
associated with the development significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 
 
When assessed against the policies in the Local Plan and the NPPF as a whole and having considered 
all the planning issues, on balance the proposal is not considered to be 'sustainable development' and 
a recommendation of refusal is made. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Recommendation 

 
REFUSE for the following reasons: 
 
 1        The proposed development, due to its siting in the open countryside, is considered to result in 

the addition of an isolated development which would have an incongruous and adverse visual 
impact on the surrounding landscape and open countryside. Furthermore, the application site is 
in an isolated location, which despite the existence of a bus service and school (700 metres 
away), would result in occupants being reliant on private transport for day to day living to access 
other facilities, services and employment. As such, and in combination, the proposal is not 
considered to constitute 'sustainable development' and is contrary to the provisions of Policies 
ST04, DM04, DM08A and ST07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan, and national policy 
guidance contained in paragraphs 11, 79, 108 & 170(b) of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019). 

 
 2         The absence of percolation test results, means that the proposal would not make an adequate 

provision for foul drainage and would therefore conflict with NDTLP Policy DM02. 

Page 63



Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

OK_21_01  08.03.2021 
  

 

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following and positive and proactive 
manner. We have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the 
Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal written 
guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant 
has been given every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably. 
In such ways the Council has demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solution to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
            
The applicant entered into pre-application discussions where key issues were identified. The 
documents submitted have failed to address the issues raised at a pre-application stage therefore no 
further discussion was deemed necessary at application stage, as these issues have not been 
adequately addressed.  
 

Page 64



 
Committee Report – 3rd June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

  

Application Number: 1/0381/2021/LA 

Registration date: 8 April 2021 

Expiry date:  3 June 2021 

Applicant:  Torridge District Council  

Agent:   

Case Officer:  Laura Davies 

Site Address:  Torridge District Council,  
Cattle Market Car Park,  
Chanters Road, 
Bideford, 
Devon,   
EX39 2QG 

Proposal:  Installation of a no.1 storage container 

Recommendation: Grant 

 
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 6d



 

Reason for referral: 

 
This application is made by Torridge District Council on land in its ownership. 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

1/1933/1979 ACCESS ROAD AND 
TURNING HEAD, THE OLD 
CONCRETE WORKS SITE 
CHANTERS LANE, 
BIDEFORD 

PER 04.03.1980 

   

1/1254/2009/LA Change of use from 
agricultural related bulk 
storage to storage of glass 
prior to export for recycling 
purposes 

PER 15.02.2010 

   

1/1159/2012/LA Change of use to, and 
extension of, car parking area 

PER 04.04.2013 

   

1/1160/2012/LA Temporary change of use (5 
years) to B8 storage for open 
air storage of logs and 
modifications to existing shed 
for dry store - (Part 
Retrospective). 

WDN 19.03.2013 

   

1/0414/2013/LA Temporary change of use to 
B8 storage and alterations to 
sheep shed 

WDN 24.07.2013 

   

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description: 
The application site is located to the southern end of the Cattle Market Car Park in Bideford. The 
application site is located immediately to the south of one of the entrances into the car park from 
Chanters Road and immediately to the north of the Kind George V Playing Fields and the Bideford 
Rugby Ground, with the clubhouse building being located directly to the rear of the application site.  To 
the east is a pumping station.  The application site is located in Flood Zone 3 and the Bideford Critical 
Drainage Area.   
 
The existing application site relates to an existing storage area which has blockwork walls to the 
southern, eastern and western side elevations.  There are similar storage areas located immediately to 
either side of the application site. 
 
Proposed Development: 
This application seeks planning permission for the installation of a storage container within the existing 
'bay' structure on site.  The proposed storage container would extend to a length of 6.1 metres, a width 
of 2.44 metres and a height of 2.59 metres with a flat roof.  The proposed container would be added to 
the existing concrete base within the application site.  The submitted details indicate that the proposed 
container would be used by Bideford Town Council for the storage of landscaping and ground 
maintenance equipment. 
 
 

Consultee representations: 

Page 66



 
Bideford Parish/Town Council:  
RESOLVED: That the application is approved. 
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  0  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  0 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
ST06 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Strategic and Main Centres); ST14 
(Enhancing Environmental Assets); BID (Bideford Spatial Vision and Development Strategy); BID07 
(Bideford Regeneration Sites); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 (Environmental Protection); 
DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
Material Planning Considerations: 
1. Principle of Development 
2. Impact on Character and Appearance 
3. Impact on Residential Amenities 
4. Access 
5. Drainage and Flood Risk 
6. Ecology. 
 
1. Principle of Development 
The application site is located within the settlement boundaries of Bideford as identified on the 
Proposals Maps to the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan.  The provisions of Policy ST06 in relation 
to the spatial strategy for the District are therefore relevant.  Policy ST06 identifies Bideford as a 
Strategic Centre and notes that development will be supported within the development boundaries of 
the Strategic Centre.  Bideford is specifically noted within the policy as providing a focus for housing 
and employment development with sustainable development opportunities being secured to increase 
self-containment and achieve balanced development to enable the town to meet its own needs and 
those of the surrounding area. 
 
Further details of the spatial strategy for Bideford are set out in Policy BID which notes that Bideford 
will continue to be a focus for growth in northern Devon, which will be delivered without prejudice to 
valued environmental assets having due regard to the importance of the area's setting and landscape 
quality. 
 
The application site is identified as being within the BID07 Policy area on the Proposals Maps.  Policy 
BID07 relates to Bideford Regeneration Sites and includes the former cattle market within the wider 
area in which the application site is located.  Policy BID07 states: 
'Regeneration and revitalisation of the town centre will be supported through schemes on the following 
sites (…) which will be delivered in a comprehensive manner: 
(…) 
(b) the former Livestock Market - an extension to existing leisure and recreation facilities supported by 
an improved public car parking facilities'. 

Page 67



 
The principle of development within the settlement boundaries of Bideford is supported by Policies ST06 
and BID.  It is noted that the wider strategic approach is for the comprehensive redevelopment of the 
wider former Cattle Market site which would include the application site.  It is not however considered 
that the proposed development would preclude this being undertaken in the future and it is understood 
that there is no valid planning permission for the redevelopment of the wider site which would be 
obstructed by the proposed installation of a storage container on this part of the site.   
 
The application site is also located immediately to the north of the King George V Playing Fields and 
Bideford Rubgy Club which are identified within the Proposals Maps to the Local Plan as being green 
infrastructure and the provisions of Policy ST14 are relevant.  Policy ST14 relates to enhancing 
environmental assets and notes that the quality of northern Devon's natural environment will be 
protected and enhanced by ensuring that development proposals contribute to a number of key criteria, 
including increased opportunities for access to the environment for all and a net gain in biodiversity 
through the positive management of green infrastructure.   
 
The proposed storage container would be located to the north of the designated green infrastructure 
area and would not encroach on this area or impede access to the open space for the general public.   
 
As a result, the principle of the proposed development is also considered to be in keeping with the 
provisions of Policies, ST06, BID, BID07 and ST14 of the Local Plan. 
 
2. Impact on Character and Appearance 
Policy DM04 of the Local Plan sets out the design principles for consideration in relation to development 
proposals and notes that development proposals should be appropriate and sympathetic to setting in 
terms of scale, density, massing, height, layout appearance, fenestration, materials and relationship to 
buildings and landscape features in the local neighbourhood.   
 
The proposed storage container would be of a standard design and utilitarian appearance.  It would be 
located within the existing blockwork walls of the storage 'bay' which forms the application site.  As 
existing there are three of these storage 'bays' located to the southern end of the car park which are 
currently empty.  The existing blockwork walls would be retained to the southern, eastern and western 
elevations and these extend to a height of over 2 metres.  Further there is a timber fence located along 
the southern boundary of the rugby club (to the south of the application site) which extends to a greater 
height.  The existing blockwork walls and fencing would largely obscure the proposed storage container 
from views from the rugby club and playing fields to the south as well as views when driving along the 
entrance to the car park to the west.  The proposed storage container would also be seen within the 
context of the surrounding storage areas, adjacent pumping station and recycling containers located 
further to the east.   
 
Taking into consideration the existing boundary treatments, the scale of the proposed development and 
its surrounding context, the proposal is not considered to result in a harmful impact on the character 
and appearance of the surrounding area and would be in keeping with the provisions of Policy DM04 
in this regard. 
 
3. Impact on Residential Amenities 
Policy DM01 of the Local Plan relates to amenities and notes that development proposals will be 
supported where they would not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses. 
 
The application site is located at some considerable distance to the nearest neighbouring residential 
properties on Chanters Road (150 metres to the west).  The nearest uses to the site are the pumping 
station to the east and the rugby club to the south.  
 
The proposed storage container is intended for use to store landscaping and ground maintenance 
equipment for use by the Town Council.  By its very nature this use is unlikely to result in any particular 
issues or noise and disturbance and only likely to be accessed periodically throughout the day when 
maintenance equipment is required. 
 

Page 68



The nature and location of the proposed development is not considered to result in any adverse impact 
on the amenities of surrounding occupiers and would be in keeping with the provisions of Policy DM01 
in this regard. 
 
4. Access 
Policy DM05 of the Local Plan states that all development must ensure safe and well designed vehicular 
access and egress. 
 
The proposed development would be located in close proximity to the existing entrance into the Cattle 
Market car park however would be located entirely within the existing storage 'bay' and boundary walls 
with no encroachment onto the adjacent access.  As a result, the proposed development is considered 
to be in keeping with the provisions of Policy DM05 of the Local Plan. 
 
5. Drainage and Flood Risk 
Policy DM02 relates to environmental protection and notes that development proposals will be 
supported where they would not result in unacceptable impacts on the pollution of surface or ground 
water.  Further, Policy DM04 notes that development proposals should include effective water 
management including Sustainable Drainage Systems. 
 
The application site is located within the Bideford Critical Drainage Area and guidance from the 
Environment Agency in relation to this area notes that all off-site surface water discharges from 
development should mimic 'greenfield' performance up to a maximum of 1 in 10 discharge rate.  The 
application site is also located within Flood Zone 3. 
 
The existing application site includes a concrete base which is impermeable and this would be retained 
as part of the development, with the proposed storage container to be located on top of this base.  As 
a result, the surface water run-off from the site will be unaltered as a result of the proposed 
development. 
 
6. Ecology 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife is 
fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further reinforced within 
the North Devon and Torridge District Local Plan through Policy DM08 which requires new development 
to 'avoid adverse impacts on existing ecology features as a first principle, and enable net gains by 
designing in biodiversity features'.  
 
A completed Wildlife Trigger List has been submitted in support of the application and this does not 
identify any specific adverse impacts from the development on protected species.  In addition, the 
nature and location of the application site is noted. 
 
Conclusion: 
The proposed installation of a storage container on the site is not considered to result in an adverse 
impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area, amenities of surrounding uses or 
occupiers and would not result in a harmful impact on protected species.  In addition, no alterations to 
the access arrangements to the site or adjacent car park would result and no additional surface water 
discharge would be generated. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
 

Conclusion 

 

Page 69



It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
 1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
             
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
                       
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

ELEVATIONS  01.04.2021 
   

FLOOR PLAN  01.04.2021 
   

SITE PLAN  01.04.2021 
   

LOCATION PLAN  01.04.2021 
  

  

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following positive and proactive 
manner. In this instance there was no need for further engagement as the development as submitted 
is considered to accord with the development plan.  In such ways the Council has demonstrated a 
positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to the planning 
application. 
 

Page 70



Torridge District Council 

 Planning Decisions 

Between 12.05.21 and 21.05.2021 

 

List of Applications 
 

      PERMITTED 
Application 
No: 

Officer Proposal and Address Applicant Decision/Date 

    
1/0691/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Change of use from hairdressing 
salon to micro bar - 6 Bridgeland 
Street, Bideford, Devon. 

Mr Karl Burns PER 
14.05.2021 

 
1/0914/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Change of use of ground floor to 
three flats, alterations and 
refurbishment - Former Tantons 
Hotel, New Road, Bideford. 

Tanton Two Ltd PER 
12.05.2021 

 
1/1050/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Demolition of existing buildings and 
erection of No. 3 dwellings with 
garage, parking spaces, garden 
sheds and improved access - 
Ferndale, Limers Hill, Torrington. 

Mr Tomas 
Couch 

PER 
14.05.2021 

 
 
1/0066/2021/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Demolition of agricultural building 
and erection of 3no. dwellinghouses 
with associated works in lieu of 
Class Q permission 
1/0093/2020/AGMB - Agricultural 
Building At Grid Reference 233382 
103362, Pyworthy, Devon. 

Mr David 
Prouse 

PER 
14.05.2021 

 
1/0144/2021/
FUL 

Helen 
Smith 

Variation to condition W12 of Part 3, 
of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) 
of application 1/0248/2019/AGMB - 
amendment to plans - Stoney Fields 
Farm, West Lane, Dolton. 

Mr and Mrs G & 
V Skull 

PER 
12.05.2021 

 
1/0156/2021/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Demolition of rear galley structure, 
internal alterations, replacement 
windows to the front and rear of the 
property and new bi-folding door to 
the ground floor rear. - 1 Victoria 
Terrace, Bideford, Devon. 

Mrs Maddie 
Pearce 

PER 
14.05.2021 

 
 
 
 

Page 71

Agenda Item 10



1/0244/2021/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Change of use of upper floor from 
Class G retail/betting/financial to 
previous residential(C3) use for 2 
Flats - Cordant People, 3 Allhalland 
Street, Bideford. 

Mr A Shah PER 
14.05.2021 

 
1/0277/2021/
FUH 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Dropped kerb with tarmac 
hardstanding for two cars - 1 
Southolme Terrace, Bideford, 
Devon. 

Mrs Janet 
Powell 

PER 
14.05.2021 

 
 
1/0285/2021/
FUL 

James 
Jackson 

Proposed lodge for tourist 
accommodation - Land At Wolf 
Valley Caravan Park, 
Broadwoodwidger, Devon. 

Mr John 
Worden 

PER 
20.05.2021 

 
1/0314/2021/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Rear extension to bungalow - 
Littlecote, Yarnscombe, Barnstaple. 

Mr R Lewis PER 
12.05.2021 

 
1/0319/2021/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Proposed store/preparation room 
and garage (re-submission of 
1/0178/2020/FUL) (Variation of 
condition 2 of planning permission 
1/1082/2020/FUL) - The Bell Inn, 
Parkham, Bideford. 

Mr and Mrs 
Sanders 

PER 
14.05.2021 

 
1/0321/2021/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Demolition of existing conservatory 
to allow for a single storey rear 
extension, removal of chimney and 
alterations to the roof to create living 
accommodation, porch extension to 
the front elevation and installation of 
solar panels to rear elevation - 
Stone Cottage, North Road, High 
Bickington. 

Andy and 
Sarah-Jane 
Payne 

PER 
12.05.2021 

 
1/0326/2021/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Replacement stables - Building At 
Aishleigh, Shebbear, EX21 5SN. 

Mrs Warren PER 
14.05.2021 

 
1/0330/2021/
FUH 

Angelo 
Massos 

Replacement garage - Linden, 
Northdown Road, Bideford. 

Mr Nicholas 
Vero 

PER 
19.05.2021 

 
1/0338/2021/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Proposed dome tent 
accommodation with self-contained 
kitchen facilities - Thorne Farm, 
Buckland Brewer, Bideford. 

Praktyka PER 
20.05.2021 

 
1/0339/2021/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Alterations including slate roof finish 
throughout, first floor extension to 
east, single storey extension to 
north and west and new porch - 
Higher Huxhill, Gammaton, 
Bideford. 

Mr and Mrs 
Cornish 

PER 
19.05.2021 

 
 
 
 

Page 72



1/0341/2021/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Outline application with all matters 
reserved for erection of a detached 
dwelling (Resubmission of 
application 1/1026/2017/OUT) 
(Variation of condition 3 of planning 
permission 1/0922/2020/OUT) - 
Overdale, Dobles Lane, Holsworthy. 

Mr Robin Jull PER 
19.05.2021 

 
1/0348/2021/
REM 

Kristian 
Evely 

Reserved matters application 
pursuant to outline application 
1/0932/2018/OUT - Erection of 1no. 
dwelling - Land Adjacent Denelea, 
Halwill Junction, Beaworthy. 

Mr N Moss PER 
12.05.2021 

 
1/0349/2021/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Conversion of barn to dwelling 
including associated works - 
Agricultural Barns At Grid Reference 
255466 122722, Yarnscombe, 
Devon. 

Mr S Baker PER 
19.05.2021 

 
1/0358/2021/
TEL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Installation of 20m monopole, 1no. 
microwave dish, 2no. equipment 
cabinets, along with ancillary works 
- Land At Grid Reference 237784 
111216, Milton Damerel, Devon. 

Vodafone 
Limited (on 
Behalf Of 
Cornerstone) 

PER 
20.05.2021 

 
1/0366/2021/
TCA 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Works to trees within a conservation 
area - felling of ash trees (G1) - 
Clairmayne, 3 South Street, 
Sheepwash. 

Mrs Helen 
Winterson 

PER 
12.05.2021 

 
1/0454/2021/
AGR 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Extension to Agricultural Building - 
Agricultural Building At Haddiport, 
Shebbear, Devon. 

Mr Alistair Kirk PER 
19.05.2021 

 

    REFUSED 
1/0316/2021/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Removal of existing single storey 
extension to allow for ground floor 
extension with balcony over and 
internal alterations - Minnow 
Cottage, 4 Churchfield, Appledore. 

Mr Foulkes REF 
13.05.2021 

 
 
 

Page 73


	Agenda
	6a Application No. 1/0604/2020/OUTM
	6b Applciation No. 1/0126/2021/FUL
	6c Application No. 1/0274/2021/OUT
	6d Application No. 1/0381/2021/LA
	10 Planning Decisions

